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Small Town. Big Charm.  

Wendell Town Board of Commissioners 
Board Room 

15 E. Fourth Street, Wendell, NC 27591 
Town Board Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, November 12, 2019 @ 7:00 PM 

CALL TO ORDER 

• Welcome by Mayor Virginia R. Gray

• Pledge of Allegiance by Carver Elementary Student, Andrew Vargas

• Invocation by Wendell Council of Churches Saint Eugene Catholic Church

1. ADJUSTMENT AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

2. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD [one-hour time limit in total]

The Public Comment Period is your opportunity to share comments with the Town Board on any 
topic as long as it is not an item scheduled for public hearing.  During Public Comment, the 
Town Board receives comments and refrains from speaking.   

Thanks to everyone in the audience for respecting the business meeting by abstaining from 
speaking from the audience, applauding speakers, or other actions that distract from the 
meeting.   

Anyone wanting to speak during Public Comment Period should do the following: 
• Sign up prior to the beginning of the meeting.  The sign-up period will begin 20 minutes prior

to the start of the meeting and will end when the meeting begins. 
• When the Public Comment Period is announced, come to the podium and state your name

and address for the record. 
• Be concise and limit your comments to three minutes or less.  Designate a spokesperson for

large groups.  Direct comments to the full Town Board and not to an individual Town Board 
member.   

3. CONSENT AGENDA

The Board of Commissioners uses a Consent Agenda to act on non-controversial items 
unanimously recommended for approval or have been discussed at previous meetings.  The 
Consent Agenda is acted upon by one motion and vote of the Board.  Any individual board 
member may pull items from the Consent Agenda for further discussion.  Items pulled will be 
handled with the “OTHER BUSINESS” agenda topic.   

3a. Minutes from the October 14, 2019 regular Town Board Meeting  
3b. Minutes from the October 28, 2019 regular Town Board Meeting 
3c.  Approval of Resolution directing the Clerk to investigate a non-contiguous 

annexation for 4 parcels totaling 151.81 acres [12.28 for PIN # 1765-85-2510, 
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50.16 for PIN #1765-96-2276, 57.16 for PIN #1765-85-6251 and 32.21 for PIN 
#1775-04-2139] located at 4501 Rolesville Road, 0 Davistown Road, 1401 
Davistown Road and 6021 Yancey Drive.  

 
4. RECOGNITIONS, REPORTS, AND PRESENTATIONS 
 
4a. Recognition of Carver Elementary School Teacher, Amber Wise  

Speaker:  Mayor Virginia Gray 
 
4b.  Presentation of the Town of Wendell Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report 
 Speaker: Phyllis Pearson of Petway Mills and Pearson, PA 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
Public Hearing Guidelines: 
• Case is announced 
• Staff presentation  
• Public hearing is opened  
• Applicant presentation 
• Citizens will follow the same rules as Public Comment Period and will have five minutes to 

speak  
• Close public hearing 
• Board members ask questions 
• Board may take action 

 
5a. EVIDENTIARY HEARING: Special Use Request by Westerlund and Schearer 

Hospitality LLC to permit a Bar/Taproom at 1 North Main Street.  
 Speaker: Planning Director David Bergmark  
 
5b.  PUBLIC HEARING: Zoning Text Amendment to Sections 15.6 and 15.15 of the 

UDO regarding the Town of Wendell’s Special Use Permit (SUP) Procedural 
Requirements. 

 Speaker: Planning Director David Bergmark 
 
5c.  PUBLIC HEARING:  Zoning Text Amendment to Section 12.7 of the UDO  

regarding Wall Signage Requirements. 
Speaker:  Planning Director David Bergmark 

 
 
6. ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS 
 
6a. Appointment to the Town of Wendell Tree Board: Lewis D. Piner  

Speaker:  Town Clerk Megan Howard  
 
7. OTHER BUSINESS (any item pulled from the CONSENT AGENDA [item 3 on 

this agenda] will be discussed during this portion of the agenda) 
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7a. Update on board committee(s) by Town board members: 

 Wendell Volunteer Fire Dept., Board of Directors [ Commissioner Joyner ]  
 East Wake Senior Center [ Commissioner Myrick ]  

 
8. COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS / COMMENTS 
 
9. MAYOR’S REPORTS / COMMENTS 
 
10. CLOSED SESSION 
 
Closed session will be called if necessary.   
 
11. ADJOURN 



TOWN OF WENDELL 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONER MEETING MINUTES 

OCTOBER 14, 2019 
 
The Wendell Town Board of Commissioners held their regularly scheduled meeting on 
Monday, October 14, 2019, in the Town Board Room, Wendell Town Hall, 15 East 
Fourth Street.   
 
PRESENT:  Mayor Virginia Gray; Mayor Pro Tem Jon Lutz; Commissioners: John 
Boyette, Jason Joyner, David Myrick and Ben Carroll 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Town Manager Marc Collins, Town Clerk Megan Howard, Town 
Attorney Jim Cauley, Finance Director Butch Kay, Planning Director David Bergmark, 
Public Works Director Brian Bray, Police Chief Bill Carter, Assistant Planning Director 
Bryan Coates, and Assistant to the Manager Stephanie Smith.   
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Gray called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. and welcomed attendees.  
 
Police Chief Bill Carter led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Reverend Bob Flemming of the Wendell Council of Churches provided the invocation.  
 
1. ADJUSTMENT AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 
 
ACTION 
Mover:   Mayor Pro Tem Jon Lutz moved to approve the agenda.  
Vote:      5-0  
 
 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD [one-hour time limit in total] 
 
Joe DeLoach 1704 Drift Falls Lane, Wendell, thanked the Town for their assistance with 
the Harvest Festival on behalf of the Wendell Chamber of Commerce. He said that next 
year’s Harvest Festival will be October 3rd, 2020.  
 
Braxton Honeycutt, 1020 Grove View Wind, Wendell, thanked Joe DeLoach.  
 
Georgia Johnson, 2420 Wendell Boulevard, spoke about a road issue on Wendell 
Boulevard causing a noise concern for her household. She asked the Town to help her 
fix the problem.  
 
3. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
The Board of Commissioners uses a Consent Agenda to act on non-controversial items 
unanimously recommended for approval or have been discussed at previous meetings.  
The Consent Agenda is acted upon by one motion and vote of the Board.  Any 
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individual board member may pull items from the Consent Agenda for further 
discussion.  Items pulled will be handled with the “OTHER BUSINESS” agenda topic.   
 
ACTION 
Mover:   Mayor Pro Tem Jon Lutz moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented.   
Vote:      5-0  
3a. Resolution R-18-2019 Authorizing the Trade or Sale of Police Department 

Surplus Property valued less than $30,000. 
 
3b.  Ordinance O-21-2019 Enacting and Adopting the 2019 S-6 Supplement to the 

Code of Ordinances for the Town of Wendell.  
 
3c.  Amendment to policy 106: Use of the Board of Commissioners’ Board Room 
 
3d. Minutes from the September 9, 2019 regular Town Board Meeting 
 
3e.  Minutes from the September 23, 2019 regular Town Board Meeting  
 
4. RECOGNITIONS, REPORTS, AND PRESENTATIONS 
 
4a.  Presentation of Women’s Equality Day Certificate to Mayor Virginia Gray 
 Speaker: League of Women Voters Board - Cheryl Tung and Diana Wynn 
 
Cheryl Tung and Diana Wynn presented Mayor Gray with the Women’s Equality Day 
Certificate on behalf of the League of Women Voters.  
 
4b.  Recognition of National Community Planning Month  
 Speaker: Mayor Virginia Gray 
 
Mayor Virginia Gray presented the following, in italics:  
 
Item Summary: 
  
The American Planners Association (APA) recognizes October as National Community 
Planning Month. The 2019 theme for the month is “Planning for Infrastructure That 
Benefits All” to highlight how well-planned infrastructure projects strengthen community, 
boost the economy, expand opportunity, and promote equitable development. 
 
The proclamation recognizes the efforts of the Board, citizen planners, and professional 
staff, for advancing community planning efforts past and present. Efforts include the 
2019 Strategic Plan, Budget with a 5-Year Capital Improvement Plan, Town Hall design 
funding, Downtown Parking and Event Space design-build funding, Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan, Wendell Boulevard Sidewalk Project funding, and 
Comprehensive Plan Update funding. Such efforts, among others, represent an ongoing 
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commitment to realize the goal of planning to maximize the health, safety, and 
economic well-being of all people living in Wendell. 
 
Mayor Gray presented the proclamation and thanked everybody that takes part in the 
planning process.  
 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
There are no public hearings scheduled. 
 
6. ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS 
 
6a. Authorization to Execute Contract for Design Services for the Wendell Boulevard 

Pedestrian Project with Kimley Horn in the Amount of $268,790.53 
Speaker:  Planning Director David Bergmark  

 
Planning Director David Bergmark presented the following staff report, below in italics:  
 
Background: 
 
The Wendell Boulevard Pedestrian Project advances several strategic initiatives of the 
2019 Strategic Plan and implements sidewalk recommendations of the 2016 Pedestrian 
Plan by providing continuous sidewalk from Wendell Elementary School (Downtown) to 
the Food Lion shopping center on Wendell Boulevard. The project also addresses unsafe 
pedestrian crossings at Wendell Falls Parkway, Wall Street, and Marshburn Road along 
Wendell Boulevard and provides a traffic signal at the intersection with Wendell Falls 
Parkway. 
 
A basic concept plan for the proposed Wendell Boulevard Improvements is included as 
Attachment B. The proposed improvements to Wendell Boulevard would include: 
 

• The construction of approximately 2000 LF of new sidewalk to fill existing gaps. 
• Closing off Wall Street at its intersection with Wendell Blvd. 
• Signalization/improvements to the Wendell Blvd/Wendell Falls Parkway 

intersection. 
• Pedestrian Improvements and modifications to the Marshburn Road/Wendell 

Blvd. intersection. 
 
On July 22, 2019, the Town Board authorized the Town Manager to enter into negotiations 
with Kimley Horn to provide design and engineering services for this project, in adherence 
with all state and federal guidelines necessary for the Town to subsequently pursue 
funding through CAMPO’s Locally Administered Planning Program (LAPP) for Right-of-
Way (ROW) and Construction phases of the project. 
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Kimley Horn was contracted to assist the Town in preparing material for the LAPP 
submittal.  The majority of this work has been completed, with the remaining items to be 
finished prior to October 30, 2019 (LAPP submittal deadline).  The project will be divided 
into two (2) LAPP grant submittals following discussions with CAMPO and NCDOT to 
meet procedural requirements for State and Federal funding.  
 

• Submittal 1 will address the sidewalk extension along Wendell Boulevard and the 
intersection improvements to Marshburn Road.  This submittal will compete 
against other bike/ped projects.  
 

• Submittal 2 will address operational improvements to the Wendell Blvd/Wendell 
Falls Parkway intersection, including signalizing the intersection and the closing of 
Wall Street.  This submittal will compete against other roadway projects. 

 
Item Summary: 
 
Preliminary cost estimates (incorporated into the Town’s CIP) included $185,000 for 
design/engineering work for this project, with an additional $1,300,000 for ROW 
acquisition and  
construction.  The design work was appropriated in this year’s budget, with the Town’s 
portion of ROW and Construction costs planned for the fiscal year 2021 budget. 
 
The revised cost estimates provided by Kimley Horn and negotiated by staff are as 
follows: 
 

• Design/NEPA Contract Cost- $268,790.53  
 

• ROW/Construction Estimate– $1,803,185  
o $1,034,094 for Submittal 1  
o $769,091 for Submittal 2 

 
This represents an increase of $83,790.53 than the initial estimates developed in fall 
2018. The projected cost increase is due to higher ROW and utility relocation estimates 
than were developed during Kimley Horn’s preliminary investigation. Additionally, the 
preparation of two submittals to meet procedural requirements of obtaining state and 
federal funding for later phases also increases the cost.   
 
Staff recommends the Board to authorize the Town Manager to execute the contract for 
design services for the Wendell Boulevard Pedestrian Project with Kimley Horn in the 
amount of $268,790.53.  The budget amendment will be officially reconciled at fiscal year-
end by fund balance appropriate, if needed. The cost adjustment for the ROW and 
construction phases will be made in the fiscal year 2021 budget process by increasing 
grant funding and local match. The local match requires a minimum 20% for a LAPP 
application. 
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A copy of the scope of services for the Design/NEPA agreement is included as 
Attachment B. The current project schedule completes design, ROW, and construction in 
July 2022. 
 
Mr. Bergmark offered to answer any questions the Board might have.  
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner asked if Mr. Bergmark could explain how the design plan is 
going to work regarding public notice. He said that closing roads and changing traffic 
patterns is something to think about. He asked if there would be time for the public to 
give feedback.  
 
Mr. Bergmark said that the design would come in phases, with an initial 25% design 
plan that would come in early. He said the Town would have public involvement along 
the way. Later, the Town would receive a 90% design plan. He said that the Town 
would have time to make adjustments based on input received. Mr. Bergmark said that 
the graphic presented in the Agenda Packet is based on Kimley Horn’s initial thoughts 
based on what staff has expressed. He said that one concern was making Marshburn 
Road a safe crossing space for school access.  
 
Mr. Joyner clarified that if the Town would put the money up for phase 1 design, would 
Kimley Horn walk the Town through phases 2 and 3 of the LAPP process.  
 
Mr. Bergmark said that the Town has contracted with Kimley Horn to help prepare some 
of the information required for the LAPP submittal. The Town and consultant are in the 
process of submitting the application with the deadline for the right of way construction 
phases being due by the end of October. Mr. Bergmark said that there are two pieces 
left to put together before submittal. A pre-submittal meeting was held with CAMPO with 
DOT representatives, which is part of the reason why this item came before the Board 
this evening concerning the cost adjustment.  
 
Commissioner Ben Carroll asked what the initial bid was.  
 
Town Manager Marc Collins said it was approximately $320,000.00  
 
Mr. Carroll asked if there was a reduction of services involved with the lowering of cost.  
 
Mr. Collins said that staff clarified on Marshburn Road that the solution would be within 
existing right-of-way and would not require additional property or right-of-way acquisition 
at that location, which reduced some of the design. He said that completing the LAPP 
application preparation outside of the phase I design reduced the cost. 
 
Mr. Bergmark said that there were also optional services that the Town might want in 
the future, but are not required at this phase, right now.  
 
Mr. Collins said that staff felt confident in the design and NEPA components that need 
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to move forward in the LAPP process. He said that, while this cost is a little higher, the 
impact on the actual construction is only about $60,000 to meet a 20% local match. If 
the Town is shifting more from a 30% match down to a 20% match, which affects a few 
points in the applications, it’s only a $60,000.00 increase in construction. He said that 
the Town needed to make sure it had accurate design and environmental for Federal 
process.   
 
Mr. Carroll asked where the Town was planning on pulling the $60,000.00 from.  
 
Mr. Collins said it would have to be adjusted in next year’s capital budget as part of the 
budget development process.  
 
Commissioner Jon Lutz asked if the Town’s match is 20% for the project.  
 
Mr. Bergmark said that it was for the later phases. This phase right now for design 
engineering is being done outside of LAPP with Town funds. Design only applications, 
do not score as the Town gets bonus points if the Town has not received LAPP 
approval within the last five years. Mr. Bergmark said that doing the design phase using 
Town funds first allows the Town to receive the bonus points on the expensive part, 
which is the right-of-way and the construction. He said LAPP is a reimbursement 
program.  
 
Mr. Lutz asked if the meetings with the representatives went well.  
 
Mr. Bergmark said they went well and emphasized the advantage of working with 
Kimley Horn is the prior work experience for DOT on the LAPP program.  
 
Mr. Lutz asked if the sidewalks were running up the northeast side of Wendell 
Boulevard.  
 
Mr. Bergmark confirmed.  
 
Mr. Lutz asked if it was on the opposite side of the fire department.  
 
Mr. Bergmark said that was correct. That side looked to have fewer utility conflicts, 
making it more affordable.  
 
ACTION 
Mover:   Mayor Pro Tem Lutz moved to approve the Authorization to Execute Contract  

   for Design Services for the Wendell Boulevard Pedestrian Project with Kimley  
   Horn in the amount of $268,790.53 

Vote:      5-0  
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6b.  Authorization to Execute Contracts for On-Call Engineering Services with two 

Firms: (1) AMT and (2) Withers and Ravenel.  
 Speaker: Planning Director David Bergmark  
 
Planning Director David Bergmark presented the following staff report, below in italics:  
 
Item Summary: 
On June 26, 2019, the Town issued a request for qualifications (RFQ) for on-call 
engineering services.  Currently A. Morton Thomas and Associates, Inc. (AMT) provides 
this service for the Town, but the term of their contract elapsed in 2015.  The growing 
engineering and capital project needs of the Town necessitated a reevaluation of contract 
options for these services. The goal of the RFQ was to identify one or more firms that 
could serve as the Town Engineer and represent the Town in various aspects related to 
Engineering Services.  The scope of work for the selected firm(s) could include:  

• Development Plan Review, as a member of the Town’s Technical Review 
Committee  

• In-house or sub Professional services related to surveying; structural; civil 
engineering/landscape architecture and/or other specialty services that may be 
required for transportation related projects (including but not limited to review of 
Transportation Impact Assessments (TIA);  

• Site visits;  
• Schematic/Conceptual Design and Cost Estimation;  
• Other related design services that may arise for site visits;  
• Complete Design Services for small capital projects;  
• Construction Administration; and 
• Storm water project consulting to include maintenance of GIS mapping system and 

Phase II audit concerns/regulations.  

The RFQ required interested firms to submit their letter of interest and qualifications by 
August 1, 2019.  A total of six vendors submitted proposals by the deadline.  Copies of 
the submitted qualifications were distributed to key Wendell staff members for 
independent review and evaluation utilizing the selection criteria included in the RFQ and 
necessary to satisfy the goals of the RFQ.  Staff reviewing the proposals included the 
Finance Director, Public Works Director, and Planning Director. Upon completion of the 
independent review, a meeting was held with the selection team to establish a consensus 
ranking of the submittals to ultimately recommend the top two firms to the Town Manager 
pursuant to the requirements of the RFQ.   
The firms recommended to the Town Managers for additional consideration and 
presentations were: 

• A. Morton Thomas and Associates, Inc. (AMT)  
• Withers and Ravenel 
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Presentations were conducted by the finalists on Friday, September 6, 2019.  Upon 
review of all supplied materials, information received in the presentations, reference 
check results and other due diligence efforts, it is the consensus recommendation of the 
participants that both firms be contracted with the Town of Wendell to perform different 
on-call engineering services, tailored to their individual strengths and capabilities.  The 
negotiated contracts would be for an initial 3-year term, with the ability for 1-year 
extensions. 
As proposed, the break-down of services to be provided by each firm would be as follow: 
Withers and Ravenel    A Morton Thomas & 
Associates_________ 

• Environmental     Development Plan Review 
• Surveying     Transportation Impact Assessment 

Review  
• Transportation     Field Inspections 
• Planning     Annual Powell Bill Updates 
• GIS      Bond Estimate Review 
• General Civil     Construction Estimates 
• Landscape Architecture 
• Stormwater Engineering 
• Construction Administration 
• Field Inspection 
• Construction Estimates 

In general, the proposed structure would retain AMT for most of the engineering services 
they are currently providing the Town, while contracting Withers and Ravenel to take over 
Stormwater Engineering and assist with various services related to capital projects. 
 
The master services agreement (MSA) will provide 12-month pricing and would fall within 
appropriated funds in the FY20 budget.  Separate projects agreements will be established 
for specific program needs (for example: an agreement for stormwater engineering 
services) with the MSA providing rate sheets and governing rules for services. Any 
proposed engineering costs which exceed appropriations in the the adopted budget would 
require approved by the Town Board prior to commencement of services. The award of 
contracts is not exclusive and the Town may still approve other firms to provide services 
on projects as needed. 

Staff recommends authorization to enter final negotiations to execute a master services 
agreement or contract with A Morton Thomas & Associates and Withers and Ravenel to 
provide on-call engineering services.   
 
Mr. Bergmark offered to answer any questions that the Board might have.   
 
Commissioner Ben Carroll asked which other four engineering firms submitted a 
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proposal.  
 
Mr. Bergmark said that it was JMT, CSD Engineering, Rami Kemp, and McGill & 
Associates.  
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner asked how this differs from the Town’s relationship in the 
past with AMT and what sort of cost savings is the Town achieving with having a 12-
month versus a regular retainer.  
 
Mr. Bergmark said that the Town’s term with AMT is expired, but it’s not that different 
with what the Town has done in the past with AMT. The Town would have a contract 
that would agree to an hourly rate structure depending on which members of their team 
are performing functions. He said you’re only being billed as they perform services.  
 
Town Manager Marc Collins said that the rules and regulations that the Town is subject 
to is increasing with time increasing the complexity and amount of engineering services 
needed. He said that the last engineering contract expired in 2015, so the Town’s 
engineer was working month-to-month without a contract and Fee Schedule. This 
necessitated the Town to start the process to qualify engineering companies to meet the 
increased service needs. Staff wants to make sure that engineering services remain 
timely as the Town grows. AMT is needed to respond to development projects that are 
received. However, public works needs an engineer to be able to work on stormwater 
compliance. He said that the State Department of Environmental Quality is doing audits 
of all the local governments’ stormwater programs, with Wendell’s being in 2022. While 
stormwater mapping will be completed this year, the stormwater program has to be 
developed for the state audit. Town staff felt it better to have two separate entities 
working there because there was nothing wrong with the job that AMT was doing on 
design review, but the Town needs additional engineering services to handle the 
additional work. He said if the Town has other projects like the design build out for the 
downtown parking and event space, other firms can apply for that. These are just the 
Town’s on-call engineers. 
 
Commissioner Ben Carroll asked if there was a cost associated with being the on-call 
engineer.  
 
Mr. Collins said the cost for engineering services were already appropriated in the 
Planning and Public Works line item budgets, so nothing changes as far as cost. He 
said that this is just the contract that identifies which firms can do the work.  
 
Mr. Carroll asked if it would change again, next year.  
 
Mr. Collins said that each budget year would be an independent decision of the Board 
as a whole during the budget process. He said that, regarding their rate sheets, there’s 
a state statute that sets the process you have to go through to get surveying, 
engineering and other professional services, which is the process that the Town follows. 
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They provide their qualifications and rate sheets as a part of that process.  
 
 
ACTION 
Mover:   Mayor Pro Tem Lutz moved to approve the Authorization to Execute Contracts  

   for On-Call Engineering Services with two Firms: (1) AMT and (2) Withers and  
   Ravenel.  

Vote:      5-0  
 
6c. Request for the Addition of a Human Resources Administrator Position to the 

Fiscal Year 2020 Budget effective December 1, 2019 
 Speaker: Town Manager Marc Collins 
 
Town Manager Marc Collins presented the following staff report, below in italics:  
 
Item Summary: 
 
Staff requests the addition of a Human Resources Administrator position to be added 
mid-year to the FY 2020 Budget to assist with regulatory compliance, administration of 
the Personnel Policy, and implementation of strategic initiative projects. The position will 
provide the staff time needed to advance a Top Priority strategic initiative of the Board to 
“Evaluate human resource policies for overtime, insurance selection, employee 
evaluation, compensation, comparative benefits, and training programs. 
 
The Finance Director was assigned the Human Resources Officer role in the past. The 
two roles have a conflict of interest as one protects the fiscal health of the Town and the 
other has legal and risk implications related to personnel. The Human Resource 
Specialist position in the Finance Department fills the payroll and benefits responsibilities 
of the organization which are separate from human resources officer requirements. The 
Town Manager is now the only employee with formal human resources training and 
experience. 
 
The position was not originally requested in the FY 2020 as the new Town Clerk was 
assuming the clerk and communications responsibilities from the Special Assistant to the 
Manager. The Special Assistant to the Manager had trained to assume the Human 
Resources Officer assignment in FY 2020 in addition to other project assignments. With 
the retirement of the position in July 2019 after budget adoption, the need to fill the human 
resource role remains. 
 
The requested Human Resources Administrator position will be assigned the Role of 
Human Resources Officer identified in the Personnel Policy. General responsibilities 
identified in the Personnel Policy include: 
 

• Recommend rules and revisions to the personnel system to the Town Manager for 
consideration; 
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• Recommend changes as necessary to maintain an up to date and accurate 
position classification plan; 

• Recommend necessary revisions to the pay plan; 
• Recommend which employees shall be subject to the overtime provisions of the 

Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA); 
• Maintain a roster of all persons in the municipal service; 
• Establish and maintain a list of authorized positions in the municipal service at the 

beginning of each budget year which identifies the each authorized position, class 
title of position, salary range, any changes in class title and status, position number 
and other such data as may be desirable or useful; 

• Develop and administer such recruiting programs as be necessary to obtain an 
adequate supply of competent applicants to meet the needs of the Town; 

• Develop and coordinate training and education programs for Town employees; 
• Investigate periodically the operation and effect of the personnel provisions of the 

Personnel Policy; 
• Perform such other duties as may be assigned by the Town Manager not 

inconsistent with the Personnel Policy; 
• Maintain all records and files related to human resources management and act as 

the custodian of the same. 

Specifically, the position is necessary to assist with the implementation of the 
compensation and classification study currently in progress, initiate the ADA transition 
process as the ADA Coordinator of the Town, develop an employee evaluation system, 
and update processes, records, and policies to meet regulatory compliance. 
 
While the position is not appropriated in the FY 2020 budget, staff is requesting it be filled 
in advance of the Risk Manager position planned for FY 2021. The risk manager position 
would be added in a future fiscal year. The approximate cost of the position for six (6) 
months with benefits is $39,500. The funding would be appropriated at the end of fiscal 
year budget amendment using accrued savings and increased revenues, if available, or 
fund balance if not. 
 
Mr. Collins offered to answer any questions that the Board might have.  
 
Commissioner Jon Lutz asked if the future position for a risk manager is a job 
responsibility that an HR person could handle.  
 
Mr. Collins said he thinks an HR Administrator could handle a lot of the responsibilities 
that a risk manager would, such as safety and training programs with departments. If both 
job responsibilities could be satisfied, it would be ideal.  
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Mayor Virginia Gray asked what department the position would work under.  
 
Mr. Collins said the position would work under the Administration department, reporting 
to the Town Manager.  
 
Commissioner Ben Carroll asked where the Town was going to put the HR 
Administrator, office-wise.  
 
Mr. Collins said that staff would evaluate available space within the current building and 
locate space needs prior to filling the position.  
 
Mr. Carroll asked if this was something that the Board could approve with conditions, 
once Mr. Collins and Finance Director Butch Kay decide that it’s necessary, to reach 
back out to the Board to let them know where the money’s coming from before it’s 
approved.  
 
Mr. Collins said that right now, the money would come from the fund balance if it’s not in 
accrued savings from positions. He said that he can’t say exactly how long positions will 
stay open, but each month that goes along, there’s an accrued savings in those 
positions. He said he wanted to wait until it’s a little bit closer to the mid-year in order to 
feel comfortable with where revenues are headed. Right now, they’re tracking very 
strong with the growth that the Town has experienced. Mr. Collins said that he wanted 
to get the position posted sooner, as the Town Board will have limited meetings that will 
be pretty busy between now and the new year. He said he would stay in communication 
with the Board when that decision is made and the justification that Mr. Kay and Mr. 
Collins used to make that decision will be shared.  
 
Mr. Carroll asked Attorney Jim Cauley if the Board would have to walk back through the 
formal process or is this something the Board can approve with conditions, now and be 
updated on the specifics via email.  
 
Attorney Jim Cauley said that the Town Board could approve it with conditions, but that 
it would be difficult to go solicit the employee with those conditions. He said he’d 
recommend that if the Board is inclined to approve it just to approve it as a clean 
approval. He said to instruct the manager to keep the Board apprised of the process.  
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner said that he appreciates the Town putting some focus on 
human resources. He said that personnel costs are the most expensive area and could 
cost the town a lot of money if things were to go badly without an HR position in place. 
He said that lapsed salary is great, but it’s not recurring. That being said, there’s an 
understanding and he’s trusted staff’s budget math so far and it has worked out well. 
Mr. Joyner said that it’s a needed position and shares the concern about where this 
person will stay specifically relative to their job title and the need in HR not to have open 
access to their office files. Outside of that, Mr. Joyner had no other reservations.  
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Commissioner Jon Lutz said that in agreement of that, he thinks that anyone who owns 
a business knows that HR is a big risk management need and can be a time-eater on 
administrative time. Mr. Lutz said that he thinks the idea of having the Town Manager 
handling HR seems like it’s not the best use of his talents or skills. Mr. Lutz said that 
having a position available for staff who is well-trained is the way to go about this. He 
said that Commissioner made a good point that certainly, you want to be doing this right 
and at the same time, he agrees that the Board wants to make sure this isn’t a general 
fund balance paid position; but he thinks it’s needed nonetheless.  
 
ACTION 
Mover:   Mayor Pro Tem Lutz moved to approve the Request for the Addition of a  

   Human Resources Administrator Position to the Fiscal Year 2020 Budget  
   effective December 1, 2019 

Vote:      5-0  
 
7. OTHER BUSINESS (any item pulled from the CONSENT AGENDA [item 3 on 

this agenda] will be discussed during this portion of the agenda) 
 
7a. Update on board committee(s) by Town board members: 

 Wendell Volunteer Fire Dept., Board of Directors [ Commissioner Joyner ] 
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner said that the Fire Board met last Thursday in anticipation 
of receiving their audit, which was rescheduled for a later date. The Fire Board is 
anticipating the purchase of a new utility truck running EMS calls in the greater 
downtown Wendell area. He said they would be meeting again next week.  

 
8. COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS / COMMENTS 
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner said that the Harvest Festival was a success and the Town 
staff did a great job working with the Chamber. He said the new parade route was great 
and drew a large crowd. He thanked the Town and Chamber for all their hard work. Mr. 
Joyner also mentioned that the Town lost Sandy Jones on September 26th as a member 
of the Economic Development Commission and spent his entire life living in Wendell. 
He was an active member of the community and the son of a previous Mayor. Mr. 
Joyner requested that the Town adjourn in his honor at the end of the meeting.  
 
Commissioner John Boyette thanked the Town and Chamber for their work on the 
Harvest Festival. He said he enjoyed how big the event was and how many more 
vendors were present.  
 
Commissioner David Myrick said that the Chamber did a fantastic job and said that his 
farm was getting ready to harvest its own crops.  
 
Commissioner Jon Lutz said that the Harvest Festival was a great event and said that it 
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felt a lot larger. He also said that he was happy the pedestrian plan was moving 
forward, as he was always bothered by the lack of sidewalks and people walking in the 
roads. He said he looks forward to the day where people can walk to get groceries and 
walk home, safely.  
 
Commissioner Ben Carroll had no comment.  
 
9. MAYOR’S REPORTS / COMMENTS 
 
Mayor Virginia Gray thanked the Chamber of Commerce for the Harvest Festival and 
Town staff for playing a role and the many volunteers that took the time to help.  
Mayor Gray reminded the Town that the Trick or Treat Trail is coming up on October 
25th and is a fun-not-scary event for kids.  
Mayor Gray mentioned that she’s serving on the steering committee that is working for 
the Wake County Family Justice Center through InterAct. Mayor Gray said she would 
continue with updates in the future as there would be further meetings. Mayor Gray said 
that October is Domestic Violence Awareness Month in Wake County. The goal is to 
remember the lives lost, honor survivors and celebrate that Wake County is a 
community of hope. Mayor Gray said that InterAct serves many residents in Wendell 
and if anyone is interested in getting involved, they’re always looking for volunteers.  
 
10. CLOSED SESSION 
 
Closed session will be called if necessary.   
 
11. ADJOURN 
ACTION:  
Mover:  Commissioner Jason Joyner moved to adjourn in Sandy Jones’ honor and  

   memory at 7:59 p.m.  
Vote:    5-0 
 
Duly adopted this 12 day of November, 2019, while in regular session.  
 
      ________________________________   
      Virginia R. Gray,  
ATTEST:     Mayor 
 
      
___________________________________ 
Megan Howard, 
Town Clerk  
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The Wendell Town Board of Commissioners held their regularly scheduled meeting on 
Monday, October 28, 2019, in the Town Board Room, Wendell Town Hall, 15 East 
Fourth Street.   
 
PRESENT:  Mayor Virginia Gray; Mayor Pro Tem Jon Lutz; Commissioners: John 
Boyette, Jason Joyner, David Myrick and Ben Carroll 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Town Manager Marc Collins, Town Clerk Megan Howard, Town 
Attorney Jim Cauley, Finance Director Butch Kay, Planning Director David Bergmark, 
Parks and Recreation Director Jeff Polaski, Police Chief Bill Carter, Assistant Planning 
Director Bryan Coates, and Assistant to the Manager Stephanie Smith.   
 
Mayor Gray called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. and welcomed attendees.  
 
Wendell Middle School Student Andrea Cano Moreno led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Errol Briggerman of the Wendell Council of Churches provided the invocation and gave 
the following announcements:  
 
November 16th, 2019 Wendell Baptist Church will host a Relay for Life Craft Fair called 
the Jingle Bell Express from 9 am to 2 pm.  
The Thanksgiving Sing at Wendell Baptist Church will be held on Sunday, November 
24th at 7 pm.  
 
1. ADJUSTMENT AND APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 
ACTION 
Mover:   Mayor Pro Tem Jon Lutz moved to approve the agenda.  
Vote:      5-0  
 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD [one-hour time limit in total] 
 
Katie Akins, 3901 Swift Creek Road, Smithfield NC 27577, spoke about Current 
Electrical Company and their involvement with Commissioner Ben Carroll’s contracting 
company, Old Oak Construction.  
 
3. CONSENT AGENDA 
 
The Board of Commissioners uses a Consent Agenda to act on non-controversial items 
unanimously recommended for approval or have been discussed at previous meetings.  
The Consent Agenda is acted upon by one motion and vote of the Board.  Any 
individual board member may pull items from the Consent Agenda for further 
discussion.  Items pulled will be handled with the “OTHER BUSINESS” agenda topic.   
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ACTION 
Mover:   Commissioner Ben Carroll moved to approve the Consent Agenda as  

    presented.   
Vote:      5-0  
 
3a. Wake County Tax Report  
 
4. RECOGNITIONS, REPORTS, AND PRESENTATIONS 
 
4a. Recognition of Wendell Middle School Teacher Sarah Claxton  

Speaker:  Mayor Virginia Gray  
 
Mayor Gray presented the following teacher recognition, below in italics:  
 
Mrs. Claxton has been teaching at Wendell Middle School since 2016.  She has taught 
6th grade for three years and is currently teaching 7th grade English Language Arts.  
Mrs. Claxton truly has a gift for building relationships with her students.  Her laugh is 
contagious, and you just can’t help but smile in her classroom. She is always infusing 
humor and student interests into her lessons.   
 
When she plans her lessons, Mrs. Claxton thinks about what each child needs to be 
successful.  She is caring, compassionate, kind, and reflective. These qualities have 
helped her students to thrive and flourish in her English Language Arts classroom.  Her 
students have gained confidence in their reading skills because of her instructional 
practice and the relationships that she has built with them.  We are very fortunate to 
have Mrs. Claxton as a teacher at Wendell Middle School. 
 
Mrs. Claxton said this is the longest she’s been at a school and that Wendell Middle is 
very special to her. She said it’s a pleasure teaching and thanked the community for the 
recognition.  
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner said that he wanted to highlight that Mrs. Claxton was a 
graduate of Appalachian State University.  
 
4b.  Snap Shot Monthly Reports  
 Speaker: Town Manager Marc Collins  
 
Town Manager Marc Collins presented the following staff report, below in italics.  
 
Item Summary: 
Monthly reports are attached for review for September 2019 to update strategic 
initiatives, financial activity, and operating measures. No presentation will be provided. 
 
Town Manager Marc Collins offered to answer any questions that the Board might have.  
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Mayor Gray said that she’s very excited to see the new format of the Snap Shot Monthly 
Reports. She said it’s very informative and that she gets excited about all the things that 
the Town has done and plans to do in the future. Mayor Gray thanked staff for the detail 
and level of work on it.  
 
4c.  Parks and Recreation Master Plan  
 Speakers: Mike Norris and James Ford of McGill Associates 
 
Mike Norris and James Ford of McGill Associates presented the following report, below 
in italics.  
 
Item Summary: 
McGill and Associates staff will provide the Board of Commissioners a presentation of 
the findings of the draft Parks and Recreation Master Plan for the Town of Wendell. 
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Commissioner Jason Joyner asked if these questions were asked in this order and if the 
results were from the answers that people clicked on.  
 
Mr. Ford responded in the affirmative.    
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Mike Norris asked how the Board thought about the proposed amendments.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Jon Lutz asked if there were any locations in mind for the two proposed 
neighborhood parks.  
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Mike Norris replied that the proposed solid circles on the maps represented the 
proposed park locations. He said that the dash-lined circles represented existing parks. 
The bronze-colored circles represent community parks. With the proposed parks, 
there’s flexibility on the location. Mr. Norris said the proposed locations are strategically 
placed where the Town has service gaps given the anticipated growth in these areas. A 
part of this plan is finding the appropriate land of the right size that is amenable to what 
the Town wants to do with a combination of athletic fields, parking, and facilities. Mr. 
Norris said that one proposed park is in the vicinity of Wendell Middle School, one is 
closer to the east with a greenway connection, and one is towards the central south of 
the Town. He said that he wants to keep this document flexible with locations so that 
when land opportunities become available, the Town can look at those different areas 
and evaluate if it meets recreational needs.  
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner asked how the Parks and Rec Master Plan fits into the 
Capital Improvement Plan and the Town’s budget.  
 
Town Manager Marc Collins said that the Plan is designed around the capital 
improvement plan and anticipated funding sources that will be available over the 
duration of the plan (approximately 10 to 15 years). Wake County will release a RFP in 
November for its bond funds and how municipalities approach that. They will be 
emphasizing land acquisition and trail construction. The grant resources match current 
Town needs for connectivity (trails) and park land acquisition. Mr. Collins said that more 
of the hardened structure costs of part development are on the back-end of the plan 
because that’s when the population will be present to necessitate the new facilities. Mr. 
Collins said that the borrowing for the Town Hall project provides the to construct high-
demand projects like the splash pad or an adventure playground, and sidewalk 
connectivity and signage. This implements projects within the first couple of years in 
coordination with that funding that’s already programmed in the Town’s Capital 
Improvement Plan. The State is considering allowing the Land, Water, and 
Conservation Fund (LWCF), which originally funded the Wendell Community Park, to 
renovate and repurpose old projects. This will allow for mid-range plan implementation 
by updating and improving the current Wendell Park. The Parks and Recreation Trust 
Fund could be used to construct an initial town neighborhood park that might put 
playground and open space closer to families in neighborhoods in town. Future parks 
will require planning in the CIP over time as resources and population demands. 
 
Chana Bouie at 7233 Bobue Drive in Wendell asked if there was any recreation planned 
that’s geared toward teenagers. She said that she’s been a resident of Wendell for 
some time with her children. Now that her kids are older, there’s not as many options for 
them, recreationally. Her kids are into BMX bike riding and robotics programs at the 
YMCA in Knightdale.  
 
Mayor Gray asked if Mrs. Bouie wanted the Board to consider more options that are 
teenager-appropriate and that teenagers would enjoy more by expanding programming 
to accommodate that, like a mountain bike trail.  
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Mrs. Bouie confirmed that her kids did mountain biking at summer camp and they loved 
it.  
 
Mayor Gray thanked Mrs. Bouie for her input.  
 
Mike Norris confirmed that active outdoor recreation uses were trending for teenage 
park users and the plan accommodated the need.  
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner said that connectivity is always difficult to talk about 
because it doesn’t have a swing attached to it or a recreational program. Mr. Joyner 
emphasized the importance of walkability and the ability to get to and from the 
amenities and events the Town offers. He asked how the plan coordinated with other 
plans that provide for connectivity (like the Transportation Plan and Pedestrian Plan).  
 
Town Manager Marc Collins confirmed that the pedestrian plan, transportation plan, and 
Parks and Recreation Plan connectivity portions are all coordinated.  
 
Mayor Gray thanked McGill Associates for their presentation.  
 
Town Manager Marc Collins said that staff will make the final adjustments to the draft 
plan with the consultants and then will bring back the final plan for report and adoption 
next month.  
 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
There are no public hearings scheduled.  
 
6. ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS 
 
6a. Town of Wendell Logo Use Policy.   

Speaker:  Assistant to the Manager Stephanie Smith 

Assistant to the Manager Stephanie Smith presented the following staff report, below in 
italics.  

Item Summary: 
Staff requests the approval of the Town of Wendell Logo Use Policy to preserve the 
integrity of the Town logo.  The logo is the official trademark of the Town of Wendell. It 
is registered to the Town of Wendell pursuant to the North Carolina Trademark 
Registration Act (N.C.G.S. Chapter 80) and should not be used without the express 
permission of the Town of Wendell. Any infringement or unauthorized use could subject 
the user to civil and criminal liability. To apply for permission to use the Town of 
Wendell’s logo, citizens should contact the Town Clerk at mhoward@townofwendell.com. 
The policy includes logo guidelines regarding the primary logo mark (full logo), 
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secondary logo mark (letter W logo), and expectations regarding clear space, size, 
incorrect usage, as well as brand colors. 
The application process for the use of the logo is outlined as follows: 
By using the guidelines above, all Town Employees are permitted to use the Town Logo 
on Town property, or on materials promoting or representing the Town (letterhead, 
flyers, business cards, etc.).   
Members of the Board of Commissioners and Citizen Advisory Board Members are 
permitted to use the logo when supporting Town-related initiatives or programs, under 
the guidance of a Town of Wendell Employee. 
Anyone outside of Town staff must request permission from the Town Clerk by emailing 
mhoward@townofwendell.com with a description of the intended use of the logo. Town staff 
will review all requests and reply via email with an approval or denial letter. Requests will 
be approved if they are in keeping with the integrity of the Town of Wendell’s mission, 
goals, and are for the benefit of the community as a whole. 
 
Assistant to the Manager Stephanie Smith offered to answer any questions that the 
Board might have.  
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner asked if this was just a policy that the Town hasn’t had.  
 
Town Manager Marc Collins said that, in the past, the logo had been trademarked by 
the previous Town Clerk in 2016, but there wasn’t a policy for use adopted at that time. 
Mr. Collins said that the Town gets requests occasionally from local nonprofits about 
using it, and the proposed policy will clarify process. He said it also helps if the logo is 
inappropriately used for enforcement and protection of the Town brand. 
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner said that in the example of a fundraiser event using the 
logo, the Town could charge a fee because the fundraiser is using it for their own 
purposes. He said that he understands that the Town gives waivers to nonprofits and 
that putting a policy in place clearly defines a lot of this. Mr. Joyner asked if there has 
been thought given to the instance where someone would use the logo for profit and the 
Town should be compensated for its use.  
 
Assistant to the Manager Stephanie Smith said that sounds more in line with a special 
event partnership and the Town is currently working on a special event policy now to 
bring back to the Board at a later date. She said that, in terms of profitability, that’s not 
currently addressed in this policy, but it’s something that staff can look into and bring 
back an amendment.  
 
Town Manager Marc Collins said such a request would be brought to the Board for 
approval. He said that’s consistent with what he’s seen in the past. Mr. Collins said that it 
also goes back to the question that is there a benefit to the overall community. He said 
you would want to make sure that a product in that case would represent the Town well 
and not lessen the Town in some manner. A denial or some form of commercial use would 
probably be brought with an agreement that the Board would need to approve. 
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Mayor Gray said that it’s been her recollection that up until this time, the way that the 
former clerk handled it involved receiving requests and she brought it to the Board. 
Mayor Gray said that she liked this policy and she thinks it should be a task that staff 
handles.  
 
ACTION 
Mover:   Mayor Pro Tem Lutz moved to approve the Town of Wendell Logo Use Policy 
Vote:      5-0  
 
6b.  Resolution of Intent to formally close right-of-way known as the alley located 

between East Campen Street and 3rd Street 
 Speaker: Assistant Planning Director Bryan Coates  
 
Assistant Planning Director Bryan Coates presented the following staff report, below in 
italics.  
 
Item Summary: 
The Town of Wendell is requesting to formally close the entire (3,000 square feet) alley 
in downtown Wendell. The alley splits the properties owned by the Perry family and those 
by Shalimar Holdings, identified by PIN#s 1783-79-0912, 1783-79-0912, 1783-79-0956 
and 1783-79-1911.  On February 27, 1906, a final plat was recorded (BM1885 PG61) for 
the creation of downtown Wendell south of rail tracks (see attachments A&B).   
The alley requested for closure has not been improved, or accepted for maintenance by 
NCDOT; however, it is still shown as right-of-way on Wake County’s GIS records.  
 
According to §160A-299 (Attachment C), for a road or alley to be formally closed, the 
municipality’s Town Board must first adopt a resolution declaring its intent to close the 
street or alley and calling a public hearing on the question.  This resolution must be 
published in the paper for four successive weeks, and notices must be mailed to adjoining 
property owners and posted on the property.  
The requested land would be split between the abutting properties.  The northern section 
would be split between the two Perry properties, the southern section would match what 
is shown by Wake County GIS records (see attachment D). 
Given that the alley is currently unimproved and multiple connections remain for access 
to the block, staff recommends adoption of the attached Resolution of Intent to Close 
Road Right-of-Way. 
 
Assistant Planning Director Bryan Coates offered to answer any questions that the Board 
may have.  
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ACTION 
Mover:   Mayor Pro Tem Lutz moved to approve the Resolution of Intent to formally  

   close right-of-way known as the alley located between East Campen Street and  
   3rd Street  

Vote:      5-0  
 
7. OTHER BUSINESS (any item pulled from the CONSENT AGENDA [item 3 on 

this agenda] will be discussed during this portion of the agenda) 
 
7a.  Update on board committee(s) by Town board members: 

 CAMPO [ Mayor Gray ] 

Mayor Gray said that she had a last-minute emergency conflict and was unable 
to attend, but she requested and received report of the minutes. She said that 
CAMPO held a public hearing on the 2020-2029 Transportation Improvement 
Program, received a Federal Rescission Update, they received information on 
the 2018-2027 Transportation Improvement Program Amendment #10, received 
the 2050 MTP data inputs and heard a series of project updates, which are 
always presented at these meetings.  

 East Wake Senior Center [ Commissioner Myrick ]  

Mayor Gray said that the Board would hear from Commissioner Myrick at the 
next Board Meeting, regarding the East Wake Senior Center.  

8. COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS / COMMENTS 
 
Commissioner Jason Joyner said, in response to the public comment period heard 
earlier, this is what he had already intended on talking about. Mr. Joyner spoke to the 
need for civility at all levels of government. Mr. Joyner said that he’d be happy to talk to 
anybody. He said that he was looking forward to having a conversation of public 
comments similar to the ones with most people that show up that have a public 
comment.  
 
Commissioner John Boyette said that he needs to preemptively apologize to the 
Manager and the Police Chief, but it’s going to be a sorry-not-sorry for bringing an 
empty bottle of Boots Vodka to Town Hall. Mr. Boyette said that he bought it at the 
Town’s local ABC store. He said it is made by Oakley Distilling here in Wendell and he’s 
very proud to say that he was able to find it.Mr. Boyette said that he appreciates them 
being here and anyone can find it in the Town’s local ABC store.  
 
Commissioner Myrick said that, the next time Mr. Boyette brings a liquor bottle to a 
Board Meeting, it had better be full and that he doesn’t have any further comment.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Jon Jutz had no comments.  
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Commissioner Ben Carroll had no comments.  
 
9. MAYOR’S REPORTS / COMMENTS 
 
Mayor Virginia Gray said that this past week, the Town had the Wendell Elementary 
School Annual 3rd Grade Field Trip to Town Hall, where students have a civics lesson 
and then they host a mock board meeting. Mayor Gray said that the children were well-
mannered and inquisitive. She said their questions and comments were on-point and 
related to the topics that were discussed. During the mock board meeting, students did 
not pass the budget that was submitted, they approved a mixed-use development that 
would allow three-story buildings in downtown, they did not approve the mural request, 
they approved a backyard chicken keeping ordinance, and they passed a leash law for 
dogs and cats. Mayor Gray said that one young man in the audience made the 
comment that he was opposed to the three-story buildings because it would take away 
from Wendell’s small-town charm and that three-story buildings were too tall. Then, 
another young lady said that she strongly disagreed with cats on the leash because cats 
don’t like that and that owners won’t or can’t get them on the leash and it would be too 
difficult to make people do it and how would the Town enforce it. Mayor Gray said that 
she was struck by how the Town Board has these very same conversations at the dais 
and the Third Graders get it. Mayor Gray said she found it very interesting and very 
timely under the current circumstances of some of the comments that they made. Mayor 
Gray said that she is confident that our future is very bright with those young men and 
women at the helm.  
 
Mayor Gray thanked Parks and Recreation for a successful Treat Trail that is very safe 
and now copied all over the state. Mayor Gray said that she thinks Parks and 
Recreation Director Jeff Polaski invented it here in Wendell, first. She said that it 
showcases local businesses and the Town’s park and is a great activity for residents 
and visitors. Mayor Gray thanked staff for all of their hard work and said that it’s always 
nice and well-attended.  
 
Mayor Gray said that the next Town Board Meeting would be Tuesday, November 12, 
2019 at 7 PM, as Monday November 11 is Veteran’s Day and Town Hall will be closed.  
 
10. CLOSED SESSION 
 
Closed session will be called if necessary.   
 
11. ADJOURN 
ACTION:  
Mover:  Mayor Pro Tem Jon Lutz moved to adjourn at 8:13 p.m.  
Vote:    5-0 
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Duly adopted this 12 day of November 2019, while in regular session.  
 
 
      ________________________________   
      Virginia R. Gray,  
ATTEST:     Mayor 
 
      
___________________________________ 
Megan Howard, 
Town Clerk  
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Item Title: 
 
Resolution Directing the Town Clerk to Investigate a Non-contiguous Annexation for 4 parcels 
totaling 151.81 acres [12.28 for PIN #1765-85-2510, 50.16 for PIN #1765-96-2276, 57.16 for 
PIN #1765-85-6251 and 32.21 for PIN #1775-04-2139] located at 4501 Rolesville Road, 0 
Davistown Road, 1401 Davistown Road and 6021 Yancey Drive.  
 
Report to the Board of Commissioners: 
 
November 12, 2019 – Resolution to initiate Sufficiency of Petition Process 
 
Specific Action Requested: 
 
Adopt resolution to direct staff to certify the sufficiency of annexation petition A19-04. 
 
Item Summary: 
 
The Town received a revised annexation petition from the applicant, Chris Rurkowski for the 
annexation of four (4) parcels of land located off Rolesville Road and Davistown Road. The 
petition revises the original submitted an annexation request for 3 non-contiguous parcels 
totaling 119.6 acres [12.28- PIN #1765-85-2510, 50.16- PIN #1765-96-2276 and 57.16- PIN 
#1765-85-6251] located at 4501 Rolesville Rd, 0 Davistown Road and 1401 Davistown Road, 
respectively.  In order to satisfy the 3-mile requirement for satellite annexation, another parcel 
totaling 32.21 acres [PIN #1775-04-2139] located at 6021 Yancey Drive has been added to the 
annexation request. All the parcels are located in Wake County, but within the Wendell urban 
service area, and are currently in the Residential-40 (R-40) Zoning District. 
 
Statute requires that a public hearing be held by the Town Board for the annexation petition 
following the certification of the petition’s sufficiency by the Town Clerk. 
 
Project Profile: 
  
PROPERTY LOCATIONS: 4501 Rolesville Road, 0 Davistown Road, 1401 Davistown Road, 

6021 Yancey Drive 
WAKE COUNTY PIN(s): 1765852510, 1765962276, 1765856251, 1775042139  
ZONING DISTRICT:             R-40 
PROPERTY OWNER(s): Amy Weathers Nuttall & John J Nuttall III 
    4501 Rolesville Rd 
    Wendell, NC 27591 
     

Eva Weathers Herring 
    1800 Eastwood Rd, Apt 219 
    Wilmington, NC 28403 
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George Stancil Yancey 

    3632 Willow Bluff Drive 
    Raleigh, NC 27604 
 
APPLICANTS:  Chris Rurkowski     
PROPERTY SIZE:  151.81 acres       
CURRENT LAND USE: Agricultural 
PROPOSED LAND USE: Unknown 
 
Zoning District: 
 
The properties are located within the Wake County R-40 zoning district.   
 
Location Map: 
 

           
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      
 
 
 
 
 

Subject Properties Outlined in Yellow 
 
Attachments: 
 

A. Resolution Directing the Clerk to Satisfy the Sufficiency of the Petition 



TOWN OF WENDELL   NORTH CAROLINA 
   
 

RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE CLERK TO INVESTIGATE  
A PETITION RECEIVED UNDER NC G.S. 160A-58.1 

 
RESOLUTION NO.:  R-20-2019 

 
WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of an area described in said petition was 

received on October 7, 2019, by the Wendell Town Board of Commissioners; and 
 
WHEREAS, NC G.S. 160A-58.2 provides that the sufficiency of the petition shall be 

investigated by the Town Clerk before further annexation proceedings may take 
place; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Board of Commissioners of the Town of Wendell deems it 

advisable to proceed in response to this request for annexation. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Board of Commissioners of 
the Town of Wendell that: 
 
The Town Clerk is hereby directed to investigate the sufficiency of the below described 
petition and to certify as soon as possible to the Town of Wendell the result of her 
investigation. 
 
Duly resolved this 12th day of November 2019, while in regular session. 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Virginia R. Gray 
ATTEST:     Mayor 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Megan Howard 
Town Clerk      
 
A-19-04 – Weathers Property [4 non-contiguous parcels totaling 151.81 acres]: 
4501 Rolesville Rd, PIN # 1765-85-2510, 12.28 ac 
0 Davistown Rd, PIN # 1765-96-2276, 50.16 ac 
1401 Davistown Rd, PIN # 1765-85-6251, 57.16 ac 
6021 Yancey Dr, PIN # 1775-04-2139, 32.21 ac 
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Date:  November 12, 2019        Item #4a 

 
Item Title: 
 
Recognition of Carver Elementary School teacher:  Amber Wise 
 
Specific Action Requested: 
 
Recognition.   
 
Item Summary 
 
Amber Wise is a fifth-grade teacher at Carver Elementary. She is currently in her eighth year of 
teaching. Amber is a part of the leadership team, Media and Technology Advisory Committee, 
and Digital Portfolios Team at Carver Elementary. She is also a member of the WCPSS Science 
Core Leadership Team where she is working with district leadership to enhance science 
instruction. This November, Amber had the opportunity to present at the NCCTM State Math 
Conference in Greensboro, NC. She loves working with children, and she hopes to make a 
difference in education! 
 
Attachments: 
 
None 
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Date:  November 12, 2019                                                 Item #4b 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Item Title: 
 
Presentation of the Town of Wendell 2019 audit report by Petway Mills and Pearson PA  
 
 
Report to the Board of Commissioners: 
 
Tuesday, November 12, 2019 
 
 
Specific Action Requested: 
 
Receive and approve the Fiscal Year 2019 audit report  
 
 
Item Summary: 
  
The Local Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act requires all municipalities to prepare an 
annual audit for submittal to the State. The annual audit for the Town of Wendell was conducted 
by Petway Mills and Pearson for the fiscal year 2018-2019 (July 1 to June 30).  Prior to the board 
meeting of November 12th, the audit committee met with the audit firm to discuss the details of 
the audit.  A summary of the audit committee meeting will be presented to the public and the full 
Board of Commissioners by Phyllis Pearson of Petway Mills and Pearson. 
 
Staff is recommending that the 2019 audit report be approved. 
  
 
Attachments: 
 

A. Fiscal Year 2019 Audit Report   
 
. 
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To the Honorable Mayor  
And Members of the Board of Commissioners 
Town of Wendell 
Wendell, North Carolina 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, and each major fund of the Town of Wendell, North Carolina, as of 
and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the Town of Wendell’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, based on our audit, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in 
all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, and each major fund of the Town of Wendell, North Carolina as of 
June 30, 2019, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where 
appropriate, thereof and the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the 
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 

Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the Other Postemployment Benefits’ Schedules 
of Funding Progress and Schedules of Employer Contributions on page 51, respectively, the 
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Local Government Employees’ Retirement System’s Schedules of Proportionate Share of the 
Net Pension Liability (Asset) and Contributions, on pages 52 and 53, respectively, and the 
Law Enforcement Officers’ Special Separation Allowance Schedules of the Changes in Total 
Pension Liability and Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll on pages 54 
and 55, respectively, to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of 
financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Supplementary and Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the Town of Wendell, North Carolina. 
The introductory information, budgetary schedules, other schedules, statistical section and 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards, are presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The budgetary schedules, other schedules, and Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and 
State Awards are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In our opinion, the budgetary schedules, other schedules, and 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards are fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

The introductory information and the statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion or provide assurance on them. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
October 18, 2019 on our consideration of the Town of Wendell’s internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of the report is to describe 
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting 
or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town of Wendell’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 
 

 
PETWAY MILLS & PEARSON, PA 
Certified Public Accountants 
Zebulon, North Carolina 

October 18, 2019  
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
As management of the Town of Wendell (the “Town”), we offer readers of the Town of Wendell’s financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Town of Wendell for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2019.  We encourage readers to read the information presented here in conjunction with 
additional information that we have furnished in the Town’s financial statements, which follow this narrative.  
 
Financial Highlights 
 
 The assets and deferred outflows of resources of the Town of Wendell exceeded its liabilities and deferred 

inflows of resources at the close of the fiscal year by $5,542,895 (net position).   
 The government’s total net position increased by $980,439, primarily due to diligent cost-saving 

measures and returns on the Town’s economic development investments.  
 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the Town of Wendell’s governmental funds reported combined 

ending fund balances of $7,483,728 with a net increase of $845,125 in fund balance.  Approximately 
6.02% of this total amount, or $450,652, is non-spendable or restricted.   

 At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $6,336,576, or 
98.72% of total general fund expenditures for the fiscal year.  

 The Town of Wendell’s total debt decreased by $802,152 (16.28%) during the current fiscal year.   
 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis are intended to serve as an introduction to Town of Wendell’s basic financial 
statements.  The Town’s basic financial statements consist of three components: 1) government-wide financial 
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements (see Figure 1). The basic 
financial statements present two different views of the Town through the use of government-wide statements and 
fund financial statements.  In addition to the basic financial statements, this report contains other supplemental 
information that will enhance the reader’s understanding of the financial condition of the Town of Wendell.   
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Required Components of Annual Financial Report 

Figure 1 

 
 
 
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
              
   
 
 

 
Summary      Detail 

 
Basic Financial Statements 
 
The first two statements (Exhibits 1 and 2) in the basic financial statements are the Government-wide Financial 
Statements.  They provide both short and long-term information about the Town’s financial status.  
 
The next statements (Exhibits 3 through 9) are Fund Financial Statements.  These statements focus on the 
activities of the individual parts of the Town’s government.  These statements provide more detail than the 
government-wide statements.  There are four parts to the Fund Financial Statements:  1) the governmental funds 
statements; 2) the budgetary comparison statements; 3) the proprietary fund statements; and 4) the fiduciary fund 
statements.   
 
The next section of the basic financial statements is the notes.  The notes to the financial statements explain in 
detail some of the data contained in those statements.  After the notes, supplemental information is provided to 
show details about the Town’s individual funds.  Budgetary information required by the North Carolina General 
Statutes also can be found in this part of the statements.  
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements  
 

Management’s 
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Basic  
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Government-wide 
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The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide the reader with a broad overview of the 
Town’s finances, similar in format to a financial statement of a private-sector business.  The government-wide 
statements provide short and long-term information about the Town’s financial status as a whole.  
 
The two government-wide statements report the Town’s net position and how it has changed.  Net position is the 
difference between the Town’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources and total liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources.  Measuring net position is one way to gauge the Town’s financial condition.   
 
The government-wide statements are divided into two categories:  1) governmental activities; 2) business-type 
activities.  The governmental activities include most of the Town’s basic services such as public safety, parks and 
recreation, and general administration.  Property taxes and state and federal grant funds finance most of these 
activities.  The business-type activities are water and sewer debt that remains after the merger with the City of 
Raleigh. 
 
The government-wide financial statements are Exhibits 1 and 2 of this report.  
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements (see Figure 1) provide a more detailed look at the Town’s most significant 
activities.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The Town of Wendell, like all other governmental entities in 
North Carolina, uses fund accounting to ensure and reflect compliance (or non-compliance) with finance-related 
legal requirements, such as the General Statutes or the Town’s budget ordinance.  All of the funds of Town of 
Wendell can be divided into two categories: governmental funds and proprietary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for those functions reported as governmental 
activities in the government-wide financial statements.  Most of the Town’s basic services are accounted for in 
governmental funds.  These funds focus on how assets can readily be converted into cash flow in and out, and 
what monies are left at year-end that will be available for spending in the next year.  Governmental funds are 
reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting which provides a short-term spending 
focus.  As a result, the governmental fund financial statements give the reader a detailed short-term view that 
helps him or her determine if there are more or less financial resources available to finance the Town’s programs.  
The relationship between government activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities) and governmental funds is described in a reconciliation that is a part of the fund financial statements.   
 
The Town of Wendell adopts an annual budget for its General Fund, as required by the General Statutes.  The 
budget is a legally adopted document that incorporates input from the citizens of the Town, the management of 
the Town, and the decisions of the Board about which services to provide and how to pay for them.  It also 
authorizes the Town to obtain funds from identified sources to finance these current period activities.  The 
budgetary statement provided for the General Fund demonstrates how well the Town complied with the budget 
ordinance and whether the Town succeeded in providing the services as planned when the budget was adopted.  
The budgetary comparison statement uses the budgetary basis of accounting and is presented using the same 
format, language, and classifications as the legal budget document.  The statement shows four columns:  1) the 
original budget as adopted by the board; 2) the final budget as amended by the board; 3) the actual resources, 
charges to appropriations, and ending balances in the General Fund; and 4) the difference or variance between the 
final budget and the actual resources and charges.   
 
Proprietary Funds – Town of Wendell has two different kinds of proprietary funds. Enterprise Funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.  
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Town of Wendell uses enterprise funds to account for its water and sewer activity and for its electric operations.  
These funds are the same as those functions shown in the business-type activities in the Statement of Net Position 
and the Statement of Activities.   
 
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the 
financial statements begin on page 28 of this report.  
 
Other Information – In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report includes 
certain required supplementary information concerning the Town of Wendell’s progress in funding its obligation 
to provide pension benefits to its employees.  Required supplementary information can be found beginning on 
page 50 of this report.  
 
Interdependence with Other Entities:  The Town depends on financial resources flowing from, or associated 
with, both the federal government and the State of North Carolina.  Because of this dependency, the Town is 
subject to changes in specific flows of intergovernmental revenues based on modifications to federal and state 
laws and federal and state appropriations.  It is also subject to changes in investment earnings and asset values 
associated with U.S. Treasury Securities because of actions by foreign governments and other holders of publicly 
held U.S. Treasury Securities. 

 
 

Government-Wide Financial Analysis 
 

Town of Wendell’s Net Position 

Figure 2 

Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities   Total

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Current and other assets 10,046,662$      9,487,674$        1,633,030$        2,050,078$        11,679,692$      11,537,752$      
Capital assets 6,229,535          6,307,132          -                        -                        6,229,535          6,307,132          
Deferred outflows of resources 791,157             481,032             -                        -                        791,157             481,032             

Total assets and deferred outflows 
of resources 17,067,354        16,275,838        1,633,030          2,050,078          18,700,384        17,844,884        

Long-term liabilities outstanding 7,356,370          7,817,295          1,633,030          2,050,078          8,989,400          9,867,373          
Other liabilities 3,134,337          3,396,194          -                        -                        3,134,337          3,396,194          
Deferred inflows of resources 1,033,752          499,893             -                        -                        1,033,752          499,893             

Total liabilities and deferred 
inflows of resources 11,524,459        11,713,382        1,633,030          2,050,078          13,157,489        13,763,460        

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 3,521,632          3,229,236          -                        -                        3,521,632          3,229,236          
Restricted 450,652             362,791             -                        -                        450,652             362,791             
Unrestricted 1,570,611          970,429             -                        -                        1,570,612          970,428             

Total net position 5,542,895$        4,562,456$        -$                      -$                      5,542,895$        4,562,455$        
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As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as one useful indicator of a government’s financial condition.  
The assets and deferred outflows of the Town of Wendell exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $5,542,895 
as of June 30, 2019.  The Town’s net position increased by $980,439 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.  
However, the largest portion reflects the Town’s net investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, machinery, 
and equipment).  The Town of Wendell uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, 
these assets are not available for future spending.  Although the Town of Wendell’s net investment in capital 
assets is reported net of the outstanding related debt, the resources needed to repay that debt must be provided by 
other sources, since the capital assets cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.  An additional portion of the 
Town of Wendell’s net position, $450,652, represents resources that are subject to external restrictions on how 
they may be used.  The remaining balance of $1,570,611 is unrestricted.  

 
Town of Wendell’s Changes in Net Position 

Figure 3 
 

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Revenues:
Program revenues:

Charges for services 1,210,206$    1,052,552$    -$                       -$                   1,210,206$       1,052,552$       
Operating grants and 
contributions 294,733         447,171         -                         -                     294,733            447,171            
Capital grants and 
contributions -                     -                     -                         -                     -                        -                        

General revenues:
Property taxes 3,248,909      2,842,936      -                         -                     3,248,909         2,842,936         
Other taxes 2,081,165      1,917,276      -                         -                     2,081,165         1,917,276         
Grants and contributions not 
restricted to specific programs -                     -                     -                         -                     -                        -                        
Other 304,399         191,776         51,923               60,725           356,322            252,501            
Total revenues 7,139,412      6,451,711      51,923               60,725           7,191,335         6,512,436         

Expenses:
General government 1,885,035      1,890,228      -                         -                     1,885,035         1,890,228         
Public safety 1,548,055      1,455,625      -                         -                     1,548,055         1,455,625         
Transportation 1,602,773      1,221,517      -                         -                     1,602,773         1,221,517         
Environmental protection 92,911           70,291           -                         -                     92,911              70,291              

236,666         308,544         -                         -                     236,666            308,544            
Cultural and recreation 697,053         571,816         -                         -                     697,053            571,816            
Interest on long-term debt 96,480           5,151             -                         -                     96,480              5,151                
Water and sewer -                     -                     51,923               60,725           51,923              60,725              
Electric -                     -                     -                         -                     -                        -                        

Total expenses 6,158,973      5,523,172      51,923               60,725           6,210,896         5,583,897         

980,439         928,539         -                         -                     980,439            928,539            

Transfers -                     -                     -                         -                     -                        -                        

-                     -                     -                         -                     -                        -                        
Increase in net position 980,439         928,539         -                         -                     980,439            928,539            
Net position, beginning 4,562,456      3,633,917      -                         -                     4,562,456         3,633,917         
Net position, June 30 5,542,895$    4,562,456$    -$                       -$                   5,542,895$       4,562,456$       

Extraordinary item: gain on 
insurance recovery

Economic and physical 
development

Increase in net position before 
transfers
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Governmental activities.  Governmental activities increased the Town’s net position by $980,439, thereby 
accounting for all of the total growth in the net position of the Town of Wendell.   
 
Business-type activities.  The Town of Wendell’s net position is $0 due to the merger with the City of Raleigh. 
Financial Analysis of the Town’s Funds 
 
As noted earlier, the Town of Wendell uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds.  The focus of the Town of Wendell’s governmental funds is to provide information on 
near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of usable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the Town 
of Wendell’s financing requirements.   
 
The general fund is the chief operating fund of the Town of Wendell.  At the end of the current fiscal year, Town 
of Wendell’s fund balance available in the General Fund was $7,033,076, while total fund balance reached 
$7,483,728.  The Governing Body of Town of Wendell has determined that the Town should maintain an 
available fund balance of 40% of general fund expenditures in case of unforeseen needs or opportunities, in 
addition to meeting the cash flow needs of the Town.  The Town currently has an available fund balance of 
109.57% of general fund expenditures, and total fund balance represents 116.59% of the same amount.   
 
At June 30, 2019, governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $7,483,728 with a net increase in 
fund balance of $845,125.  Included in this change in fund balance is an increase in fund balance in the General 
Fund only.  
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights.  During the fiscal year, the Town revised the budget on several occasions.  
Generally, budget amendments fall into one of three categories:  1) amendments made to adjust the estimates that 
are used to prepare the original budget ordinance once exact information is available; 2) amendments made to 
recognize new funding amounts from external sources, such as federal and State grants; and 3) increases in 
appropriations that become necessary to maintain services.  
 
Proprietary Funds.  The Town of Wendell’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the 
government-wide statements but in more detail.  Total net position for the water and sewer funds is $0 each, due 
to the merger with the City of Raleigh. 
 
Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
Capital assets.  The Town of Wendell’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business–type 
activities as of June 30, 2019, totals $6,229,541 (net of accumulated depreciation).  These assets include 
buildings, roads and bridges, land, machinery and equipment, park facilities, and vehicles.   
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Town of Wendell’s Capital Assets 
(net of depreciation) 

Figure 4 

 
 
Additional information on the Town’s capital assets can be found in Note III.A.3 of the Basic Financial 
Statements.   
 
Long-term Debt.  As of June 30, 2019, the Town of Wendell had total bonded debt outstanding of $1,633,030.  
All bonded debt is backed by the full faith and credit of the Town.    

Activities Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Land 1,628,355$       1,625,355$     -$                      -$                        1,628,355$     1,625,355$     
Land 
Improvements

382,557            382,557          382,557          382,557          

Buildings and 
system

2,436,376         2,434,058       -                        -                          2,436,376       2,434,058       

Improvements 
other than 
buildings

64,062              73,519            -                        -                          64,062            73,519            

Substations, lines, 
and related 
equipment

-                        -                      -                        -                          -                      -                      

Equipment and 
furniture 1,115,971         1,099,800       -                        -                          1,115,971       1,099,800       

Infrastructure 55,341              61,663            -                        -                          55,341            61,663            

Vehicles and 
motorized 
equipment 546,879            630,180          -                        -                          546,879          630,180          

Computer 
Software

-                        -                      -                        -                          -                      -                      

Computer 
equipment

-                        -                      -                        -                          -                      -                      

Construction in 
progress

-                        -                      -                        -                          -                      -                      

Total 6,229,541$       6,307,132$     -$                      -$                        6,229,541$     6,307,132$     
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Outstanding Debt 
Figure 5 

 
 
Additional information regarding the Town of Wendell’s long-term debt can be found in Note III.B.7 of this 
report. 
 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 
 

The following key economic indicators reflect the growth and prosperity of the Town. 
 

Key economic indicators reflect the continued growth and prosperity experienced by the Town. 
Central to the growth in process and continued positive outlook is the continued national 
prominence of the Triangle Region as a location to locate and expand business and associated 
residential development market associated with the business investments. With entitled 
development, available infrastructure, and strong transportation connections to the region, 
Wendell is experiencing strong growth throughout its corporate boundaries. Increased investment 
in water and sewer main replacement in the historic downtown and surrounding neighborhoods, 
downtown business investments and renovations, and housing renovation reflect both public and 
private investment. 
Residential development continued to drive real estate values and revenue growth for the Town as 
shown in the following table. 

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
BB&T Note Payable 82,736$            103,420$          -$                        -$                     82,736$            103,420$            

BB&T Note Payable 2017 844,000            949,500            -                          -                       844,000            949,500              

First Citizens Loan 61,944              122,930            -                          -                       61,944              122,930              

KS Bank Loan 304,155            402,089            304,155            402,089              
-                        -                          

KS Bank Loan 1,200,000         1,300,000         -                          -                       1,200,000         1,300,000           

NC Clean Water Loan -                        -                        105,488              140,650           105,488            140,650              

Federal Revolving Loan -                        -                        1,527,542           1,909,428        1,527,542         1,909,428           

Total OPEB liability 3,753,575         4,154,063         -                          -                       3,753,575         4,154,063           

Net pension liability (LGERS) 861,872            568,007            -                          -                       861,872            568,007              

Total pension liabiity (LEO) 639,343            605,877            -                          -                       639,343            605,877              

Compensated absences 215,068            199,957            -                          -                       215,068            199,957              

Total 7,962,693$       8,405,843$       1,633,030$         2,050,078$      9,595,723$       10,455,921$       
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Calendar Year
Number of 

Permits

Estimated 
Improvement Value 

in Millions
2015 187 29
2016 231 44
2017 262 52
2018 386 69

2019 (thru Sept.) 285 49  
 

An additional 2,743 residential units are currently in the development approval process preparing 
for final platting which reflects the continued strength and impact of development activity on the 
local economy. Such growth is often accompanied by the annexation of lands into the Town 
jurisdiction. 

 
Further diversification of the Wendell tax base occurred in 2018 and is expected to expand in 
2019. In calendar year 2018, 40 commercial permits were issued with an approximate 
improvement value of $14.2 million. This includes both public investment in a new public safety 
center on Taylor Road ($5.1 million) and additions to the downtown Universal Chevrolet auto 
dealership ($390K). Industrial growth in 2018 included the completion of the Kioti Tractor 
expansion ($13 million) that started the prior year. The multi-family and commercial areas of the 
Wendell Falls planned community are opening, in-design, or planned for announcement in 2019 
and 2020 including a daycare ($3 million) that opened in September 2019 and charter school in 
permitting ($8 million). Zoning permits were issued for a new micro-brewery downtown and 
mechanical engineering and construction company headquarters that will begin construction in 
2020. The continued permitting activity, annexation requests, downtown redevelopment activity, 
and available utility capacity maintain a positive economic outlook for the Town of Wendell for 
FY 2019-2020. 

 
Budget Highlights for the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2020 

 
Governmental Activities:  Property taxes (benefiting from the economic growth) and revenues from permits and 
fees are expected to lead the increase in budgeted revenue by 17.11%.  The Town will use these increases in 
revenues to finance programs currently in place.       
 
Budgeted expenditures in the General Fund are expected to rise approximately 19.31% to $7,527,766.  The largest 
increments are in employee compensation, including compensation and benefits adjustments and capital projects.   
 
Business–type Activities: The Town only budgets for debt payments related to the water and sewer assets and 
operations.   
 
Requests for Information 
 
This report is designed to provide an overview of the Town’s finances for those with an interest in this area.  
Questions concerning any of the information found in this report or requests for additional information should be 
directed to the Town Manager, Town of Wendell, 15 E. Fourth St., Wendell, NC  27591. One can also call (919)-
365-4450, visit our website www.TownofWendell.com    or send an email to mcollins@townofwendell.com for 
more information.   
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Exhibit 1

Governmental 
Activities

Business-type 
Activities Total

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,219,107$         -$                    2,219,107$         
Restricted cash 1,945,782           -                      1,945,782           
Investments 5,481,717           -                      5,481,717           
Taxes receivables (net) 34,920                -                      34,920                
Accounts receivable (net) - trade 155,474              -                      155,474              
Due from other governments 209,662              1,633,030           1,842,692           

Total current assets 10,046,662         1,633,030           11,679,692         

Non-current assets:
Capital assets:

Land, non-depreciable improvements, 
and construction in progress 2,010,912           -                      2,010,912           
Other capital assets, net of 
depreciation 4,218,623           -                      4,218,623           

Total capital assets 6,229,535           -                      6,229,535           
Total non-current assets 6,229,535           -                      6,229,535           

Total assets 16,276,197         1,633,030           17,909,227         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Contributions to pension plan in current
fiscal year - LGERS 189,829              -                      189,829              
Contributions to pension plan in current
fiscal year - LEO 38,180                -                      38,180                
Pension deferrals - LGERS 479,984              -                      479,984              
Pension deferrals - LEO 64,818                -                      64,818                
Pension deferrals - OPEB 18,346                -                      18,346                

Total deferred outflows of resources 791,157              -                      791,157              

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable - trade and accrued 
liabilities 150,070              -                      150,070              
Accrued payroll and payroll liabilities 149,779              -                      149,779              
Liabilities payable to the City of Raleigh 1,860,266           -                      1,860,266           
Capacity Fees - Developer 367,899              -                      367,899              
Current portion of long-term liabilities 606,323              417,049              1,023,372           
   Total current liabilities 3,134,337           417,049              3,551,386           

Long-term liabilities:
Net pension liability 861,872              -                      861,872              
Total pension liability- LEO 639,343              -                      639,343              
Net OPEB Liability 3,753,575           -                      3,753,575           
Due in more than one year 2,101,580           1,215,981           3,317,561           
   Total long-term liabilities 7,356,370           1,215,981           8,572,351           

Total liabilities 10,490,707         1,633,030           12,123,737         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension deferrals - LEO 34,579                -                      34,579                
Pension deferrals - LGERS 33,079                -                      33,079                
Pension deferrals - OPEB 966,094              -                      966,094              

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,033,752           -                      1,033,752           

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 3,521,632           -                      3,521,632           
Restricted for:

Streets 85,516                -                      85,516                
Stabilization by State Statute 365,136              -                      365,136              

Unrestricted 1,570,611           -                      1,570,611           
Total net position 5,542,895$         -$                    5,542,895$         

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Wendell
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2019

Primary Government

18

Item 4b



Exhibit 2

Functions/Programs Expenses
Charges for 

Services
Operating Grants 
and Contributions

Capital Grants and 
Contributions

Governmental 
Activities

Business-type 
Activities Total

Primary government:
Governmental Activities:

General government 1,885,035$           24,568$                6,647$                    -$                         (1,853,820)$               -$                      (1,853,820)$                    
Public safety 1,548,055             1,190                    48,906                    -                           (1,497,959)                 -                        (1,497,959)                      
Transportation 1,602,773             -                        228,960                  -                           (1,373,813)                 -                        (1,373,813)                      
Economic and physical 
development 236,666                181,427                -                          -                           (55,239)                      -                        (55,239)                           
Environmental protection 92,911                  781,334                -                          -                           688,423                      -                        688,423                          
Cultural and recreation 697,053                221,687                10,220                    -                           (465,146)                    -                        (465,146)                         
Interest on long-term debt 96,480                  -                        -                          -                           (96,480)                      -                        (96,480)                           

Total governmental activities 6,158,973             1,210,206             294,733                  -                           (4,654,034)                 -                        (4,654,034)                      

Business-type activities:
Water 7,911                    -                        -                          -                           -                             (7,911)                   (7,911)                             
Sewer 44,012                  -                        -                          -                           -                             (44,012)                 (44,012)                           

Total business-type activities 51,923                  -                        -                          -                           -                             (51,923)                 (51,923)                           
Total primary government 6,210,896$           1,210,206$           294,733$                -$                         (4,654,034)                 (51,923)                 (4,705,957)                      

General revenues:
Taxes:

Property taxes, levied for general purpose 3,248,909                   -                        3,248,909                       
Other taxes 2,081,165                   -                        2,081,165                       

Unrestricted investment earnings 168,226                      -                        168,226                          
City of Raleigh - debt reimbursement -                             51,923                  51,923                            
Special item - Loss on sale of capital assets (28,385)                      -                        (28,385)                           
Insurance settlement 149,000                      -                        149,000                          
Cell tower revenue 1,000                          -                        1,000                              
Miscellaneous 14,558                        -                        14,558                            

Total general revenues 5,634,473                   51,923                  5,686,396                       
Change in net position 980,439                      -                        980,439                          

Net position, beginning, 4,562,456                   -                        4,562,456                       
Net position, ending 5,542,895$                 -$                      5,542,895$                     

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Wendell
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

Primary Government
Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
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Exhibit 3

Major Funds

General
Total Non-Major 

Funds

Total 
Governmental 

Funds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 2,219,107$               -$                            2,219,107$             
Restricted cash 1,945,782                 -                              1,945,782               
Investments 5,481,717                 -                              5,481,717               
Receivables, net:

Taxes 34,920                      -                              34,920                    
Accounts - trade 155,474                    -                              155,474                  

Due from other governments 209,662                    -                              209,662                  
Total assets 10,046,662$             -$                            10,046,662$           

LIABILITIES 
Liabilities:

Accounts payable - trade and accrued 
liabilities 150,070$                  -$                            150,070$                
Accrued payroll and payroll liabilities 149,779                    -                              149,779                  
Capacity fees 367,899                    -                              367,899                  
Liabilities payable to the City of Raleigh 1,860,266                 -                              1,860,266               

Total liabilities 2,528,014                 -                              2,528,014               

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Property taxes receivable 34,920                      -                              34,920                    

Total deferred inflows of resources 34,920                      -                              34,920                    

FUND BALANCES
Fund balances:

Restricted:
Stabilization by State Statute 365,136                    -                              365,136                  
Streets 85,516                      -                              85,516                    

Assigned
Subsequent year's expenditures 696,500                    -                              696,500                  

Unassigned 6,336,576                 -                              6,336,576               
Total fund balances 7,483,728                 -                              7,483,728               

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and 
fund balances 10,046,662$             -$                            

6,229,535               

228,009                  

34,920                    
(861,872)                 

(639,343)                 

Net OPEB liability (3,753,575)              

(2,707,903)              
(470,604)                 

Net position of governmental activities 5,542,895$             

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Earned revenues considered deferred inflows of resources in fund
statements.

Pension related deferrals

Net LGERS pension liability

Contributions to the pension plan in the current fiscal year are
deferred outlfows of resources on the Statement of Net Position

Long-term liabilities used in governmental activities are not financial
uses and therefore are not reported in the funds

Town of Wendell
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2019

Net LEO pension liability

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net
position (Exhibit 1) are different because:
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Exhibit 4

Major Funds

General Fund

Total 
Governmental 

Funds
REVENUES
Ad valorem taxes 3,255,415$          3,255,415$          
Other taxes and licenses 124,242               124,242               
Unrestricted intergovernmental 1,956,922            1,956,922            
Restricted intergovernmental 284,383               284,383               
Restricted contributions 10,220                10,220                
Permits and fees 1,090,341            1,090,341            
Sales and services 114,865               114,865               
Investment earnings 168,227               168,227               
Miscellaneous 19,688                19,688                

Total revenues 7,024,303            7,024,303            

EXPENDITURES
Governing Board 79,881                79,881                
Administration 675,335               675,335               
Information technology 94,556                94,556                
Economic development 1,630                  1,630                  
Community development and planning 247,943               247,943               
Police-Law enforcement 1,389,242            1,389,242            
Fire service 2,243                  2,243                  
Public buildings and grounds 160,720               160,720               
Public Works 1,502,879            1,502,879            
Parks and recreation 694,620               694,620               
Non-departmental 474,030               474,030               
Capital outlay 571,642               571,642               

Debt service:
Principal 385,104               385,104               
Interest and other charges 139,223               139,223               

Total expenditures 6,419,048            6,419,048            
Excess of revenues over expenditures 605,255               605,255               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of capital assets 89,870                89,870                
Cell tower proceeds 1,000                  1,000                  
Insurance proceeds 149,000               149,000               
Issuance of debt -                      -                      
  Total other financing sources (uses) 239,870               239,870               

Net change in fund balance 845,125               845,125               
Fund balances, beginning 6,638,603            6,638,603            
Fund balances, ending 7,483,728$          7,483,728$          

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Wendell
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
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Exhibit 5

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds 845,125$    

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities the cost of those assets is
allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as
depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays
exceeded depreciation in the current period.

Capital outlay expenditures which were capitalized 505,217         
Depreciation expense for governmental assets (464,554)        40,663        

Contributions to pension plan in the current fiscal year that are not 
included on the Statement of Activities 228,009      

Loss on disposal of capital assets (118,255)     

Benefit payments paid and administrative expense for the LEOSSA 
are not included on the Statement of Activities 64,818        
 

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current
financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.
   Change in unavailable revenue for tax revenues (6,506)         

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources
to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-
term debt consumes the current financial resources of
governmental funds. Neither transaction has any effect on net
position. This amount is the net effect of these differences in the
treatment of long-term debt and related items.

New long-term debt issued -                 
Principal payments on long-term debt 385,104         385,104      

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not
require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are
not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Pension expense (278,309)        
Compensated absences 15,111           
Other post-employment benefits (195,321)        (458,519)     

Total changes in net position of governmental activities 980,439$    

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Wendell
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
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Exhibit 6
 Town of Wendell
 General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019

Original 
Budget Budget

Actual 
Amounts

Variance with Final 
Budget - Positive 

(Negative)

Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes 3,047,987$   3,232,988$    3,255,415$   22,427$                  
Other taxes and licenses 101,570        101,570         124,242        22,672                    
Unrestricted intergovernmental 1,686,399     1,821,399      1,956,922     135,523                  
Restricted intergovernmental 223,789        288,588         284,383        (4,205)                     
Restricted contributions 4,900            4,900             10,220          5,320                      
Permits and fees 860,200        978,200         1,090,341     112,141                  
Sales and services 89,550          89,550           114,865        25,315                    
Investment earnings 38,875          114,575         168,227        53,652                    
Miscellaneous -               -                 19,688          19,688                    

Total revenues 6,053,270$   6,631,770      7,024,303     392,533                  

Expenditures:
Governing Board 72,400          95,050           79,881          15,169                    
Administration 677,850        702,950         675,335        27,615                    
Information Technology 197,760        149,760         94,556          55,204                    
Economic Development 600               64,600           1,630            62,970                    
Community Development and Planning 288,050        307,250         247,943        59,307                    
Police-Law Enforcement 1,767,210     1,468,787      1,389,242     79,545                    
Fire Service 8,100            8,100             2,243            5,857                      
Public Buildings and Grounds 172,745        340,345         160,720        179,625                  
Public Works 1,134,135     1,522,035      1,502,879     19,156                    
Parks and Recreation 677,815        840,515         694,620        145,895                  
Non-departmental 823,855        513,351         474,030        39,321                    

 Capital outlay 2,500            575,000         571,642        3,358                      
Debt service:

Principal retirement 437,258        385,104         385,104        -                          
Interest and other charges 49,292          139,223         139,223        -                          
Total expenditures 6,309,570     7,112,070      6,419,048     693,022                  

 
Revenues over (under) expenditures (256,300)       (480,300)        605,255        1,085,555               

Other financing sources (uses):
Appropriated fund balance 245,800        245,800         -               (245,800)                 
Issuance of debt -               -                 -               -                          
Loan proceeds -               -                 -               -                          
Cell tower proceeds -               -                 1,000            1,000                      
Insurance proceeds -               149,000         149,000        -                          
Sale of capital assets 10,500          85,500           89,870          4,370                      

Total other financing sources (uses) 256,300        480,300         239,870        (240,430)                 

Revenues and other sources over (under)
expenditures and other uses -$                 -$                  845,125        845,125$                

Fund balances, beginning  6,638,603     
Fund balances, ending  7,483,728$    

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 7

Water Fund Sewer Fund Total
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents -$               -$                  -$                     
Due from other governments -                 -                    -                       
Due from other funds -                 -                    -                       
Due from City of Raleigh 105,488          1,527,542         1,633,030            
Inventories -                 -                    -                       
Prepaid items -                 -                    -                       

Total current assets 105,488          1,527,542         1,633,030            

Capital assets:
Land and other non-depreciable 
assets -                 -                    -                       
Other capital assets, net of 
depreciation -                 -                    -                       

Capital assets (net) -                 -                    -                       

Total assets 105,488$        1,527,542$       1,633,030$          

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accrued interest payable -$               -$                  -$                     
Due to other funds -                 -                    -                       
Customer deposits -                 -                    -                       
Due to the City of Raleigh -                 -                    -                       
General obligation bonds payable-
 current -                 -                    -                       
Note payable - current 35,163            381,886            417,049               
Revenue bond payable - current -                 -                    -                       

Total current liabilities 35,163            381,886            417,049               

Non-current liabilities:
Liabilities payable from restricted
 assets:
Other non-current liabilities:  

Compensated absences -                 -                    -                       

General obligation bonds payable -                 -                    -                       
Note payable - non-current 70,325            1,145,656         1,215,981            
Revenue bond payable -
 non-current -                 -                    -                       
Total non-current liabilities 70,325            1,145,656         1,215,981            

Total liabilities 105,488          1,527,542         1,633,030            
 

NET POSITION  
Net investment in capital assets -                 -                    -                       
Restricted for Capital Projects -                 -                    -                       
Unrestricted -                 -                    -                       
Total net position -$               -$                  -$                     

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Wendell
Statement of Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2019
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Exhibit 8

Water Fund Sewer Fund Total
OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for services -$                    -$                    -$                    
Water and sewer taps -                      -                      -                      
Other operating revenues -                      -                      -                      

Total operating revenues -                      -                      -                      

OPERATING EXPENSES  
Water system operations -                      -                      -                      
Non-departmental -                      -                      -                      

Total operating expenses -                      -                      -                      

Operating income (loss) -                      -                      -                      

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
City of Raleigh - debt payment 7,911                  44,012                51,923                
Investment earnings -                      -                      -                      
Interest and other charges (7,911)                 (44,012)               (51,923)               
Bad debts -                      -                      -                      

Total non-operating revenue 
(expenses) -                      -                      -                      

 
Grants -                      -                      -                      

Income (loss) before 
contributions and transfers -                      -                      -                      

Change in net position -                      -                      -                      
Total net assets, beginning -                      -                      -                      
Total net assets, ending -$                    -$                    -$                    

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Town of Wendell
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
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Exhibit 9
Town of Wendell

Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019

 
 Water Sewer
Fund Fund Totals

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers -$               -$               -$               
Cash paid for goods and services -                 -                 -                 
Cash paid to or on behalf of employees for services -                 -                 -                 
Net customer deposits -                 -                 -                 
Other operating revenues -                 -                 -                 

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities -                 -                 -                 

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

City of Raleigh contributions - debt payment 43,074            425,898          468,972          
Transfers (to) from other funds -                 -                 -                 
  Total cash flows from non-capital financing activities 43,074            425,898          468,972          -                 
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
Acquisition of capital assets -                 -                 -                 
Capital contributions -                 -                 -                 
Principal paid on notes payable (35,163)          (381,886)        (417,049)        
Proceeds from notes payable -                 -                 -                 
Interest paid on notes payable (7,911)            (44,012)          (51,923)          

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing 
activities (43,074)          (425,898)        (468,972)         

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Interest and dividends -                 -                 -                 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -                 -                 -                 
Balances, beginning -                 -                 -                 
Balances, ending -$               -$               -$               

   

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019

 
 Water Sewer
Fund Fund Totals

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by 
operating activities

Operating income (loss) -$               -$               -$               
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 
provided by operating activities:  

Depreciation -                 -                 -                 
Bad debts -                 -                 -                 

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable -                 -                 -                 

Decrease in net pension asset -                 -                 -                 

Increase in deferred outflows of resources - pensions -                 -                 -                 

Increase in net pension liability -                 -                 -                 

Decrease in deferred inflows of resources - pensions -                 -                 -                 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued        
liabilities -                 -                 -                 
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits -                 -                 -                 
Increase (decrease) in accrued vacation pay -                 -                 -                 

Total adjustments -                 -                 -                 
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities -$               -$               -$               

Noncash investing, capital, and financing activities:

None.
 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies of the Town of Wendell (the Town) conform to generally accepted accounting 
principles as applicable to governments. The following is a summary of the more significant accounting 
policies: 
 
A. Reporting Entity 
 
The Town of Wendell is a municipal corporation that is governed by an elected mayor and a five-member 
council. As required by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements present the 
financial activity of the Town.    
 
B. Basis of Presentation  
 
Government-wide Statements: The statement of net position and the statement of activities display 
information about the primary government. These statements include the financial activities of the overall 
government. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double counting of internal activities. These 
statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the Town. 
Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other 
non-exchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to 
external parties. 
 
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for 
the different business-type activities of the Town and for each function of the Town’s governmental 
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and, 
therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Indirect expense allocations that have been 
made in the funds have been reversed for the statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) fees 
and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and 
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. 
Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general 
revenues. 
 
Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the Town’s funds. 
Separate statements for each fund category – governmental and proprietary – are presented. The 
emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a 
separate column.  
 
Proprietary fund operating revenues, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions 
associated with the principal activity of the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party 
receives and gives up essentially equal values. Non-operating revenues, such as subsidies and 
investment earnings, result from non-exchange transactions or ancillary activities. 
 
The Town reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
General Fund. The General Fund is the general operating fund of the Town. The General Fund accounts 
for all financial resources except those that are required to be accounted for in another fund. The primary 
revenue sources are ad valorem taxes, State grants, and various other taxes and licenses. The primary 
expenditures are for public safety, street maintenance and construction, and sanitation services.   
 
The Town reports no non-major governmental funds. 
  
The Town reports the following major enterprise funds: 
  
Water Fund. This fund is used to account for the Town’s water transactions with the City of Raleigh. 
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Sewer Fund. This fund is used to account for the Town’s sewer transactions with the City of Raleigh. 
  
C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 
In accordance with North Carolina General Statutes, all funds of the Town are maintained during the year 
using the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
 
Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements. The government-wide and proprietary fund 
financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus. The government-
wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the accrual basis of accounting. 
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, 
regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Non-exchange transactions, in which the Town 
gives (or receives) value without directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include property 
taxes, grants, and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal 
year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue from grants and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in 
which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. 
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements. Governmental funds are reported using the current financial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, 
revenues are recognized when measurable and available. Expenditures are recorded when the related 
fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and 
judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have 
matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. 
Proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing 
sources. 
 
The Town considers all revenues available if they are collected within 90 days after year-end, except for 
property taxes. Ad valorem taxes receivable are not accrued as revenue because the amount is not 
susceptible to accrual.  At June 30, taxes receivable is materially past due and are not considered to be 
an available resource to finance the operations of the current year. Wake County is responsible for billing 
and collecting the property taxes on real property on behalf of the Town. Also, as of September 1, 2013, 
State law altered the procedures for the assessment and collection of property taxes on registered motor 
vehicles in North Carolina. Effective with this change in the law, the State of North Carolina is responsible 
for billing and collecting the property taxes on registered motor vehicles on behalf of the Town. Property 
taxes are due when vehicles are registered. The billed taxes are applicable to the fiscal year in which they 
are received. Uncollected taxes that were billed in periods prior to September 1, 2013 and for limited 
registration plates are shown as a receivable in these financial statements and are offset by deferred 
inflows of resources. 
 
Sales taxes and certain intergovernmental revenues, such as the utilities sales tax, collected and held by 
the State at year-end on behalf of the Town are recognized as revenue. Sales taxes are considered a 
shared revenue for the Town because the tax is levied by Wake County and then remitted to and 
distributed by the State. Intergovernmental revenues and sales and services are not susceptible to 
accrual because generally they are not measurable until received in cash. Under the terms of grant 
agreements, the Town funds certain programs by a combination of specific cost-reimbursement grants, 
categorical block grants, and general revenues. Thus, when program expenses are incurred, there is both 
restricted and unrestricted net position available to finance the program. It is the Town’s policy to first 
apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such programs, followed by categorical block grants, and 
then by general revenues.  
 
D. Budgetary Data 

 
The Town’s budgets are adopted as required by the North Carolina General Statutes. An annual budget 
is adopted for the General Fund and the Enterprise Funds. All annual appropriations lapse at the fiscal-
year end. Project ordinances are adopted for the Grant Projects Special Revenue Fund, the Capital 
Projects Fund, and the Enterprise Fund Capital Projects Funds, which are consolidated with the operating 
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funds for reporting purposes. All budgets are prepared using the modified accrual basis of accounting.  
Expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations at the functional level for all annually budgeted funds 
and at the object level for the multi-year funds. Amendments are required for any revisions that alter total 
expenditures of any fund or that change functional appropriations by more than $2,500. The governing 
board must approve all amendments. During the year, several amendments to the original budget were 
necessary. The budget ordinance must be adopted by July 1 of the fiscal year or the governing board 
must adopt an interim budget that covers that time until the annual ordinance can be adopted. 
 
E. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Fund Equity 
 
1. Deposits and Investments 
 
All deposits of the Town are made in board-designated official depositories and are secured as required 
by State law [G.S. 159-31]. The Town may designate, as an official depository, any bank or savings 
association whose principal office is located in North Carolina. Also, the Town may establish time deposit 
accounts such as NOW and SuperNOW accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit.   
 
State law [G.S. 159-30(c)] authorizes the Town to invest in obligations of the United States or obligations 
fully guaranteed both as to principal and interest by the United States; obligations of the State of North 
Carolina; bonds and notes of any North Carolina local government or public authority; obligations of 
certain non-guaranteed federal agencies; certain high quality issues of commercial paper and bankers' 
acceptances and the North Carolina Capital Management Trust (NCCMT). The Town’s investments are 
reported at fair value. Non-participating interest earning contracts are accounted for at cost. The NCCMT 
Government Portfolio, a SEC-registered (2a-7) external investment pool, is measured at amortized cost, 
which is the NCCMT’s share price. The NCCMT- Term Portfolio’s securities are valued at fair value. The 
NCCMT-Term Portfolio is bond fund, has no rating and is measured at fair value. As of June 30, 2019, 
The Term portfolio has a duration of .11 years. Because the NCCMT Government and Term Portfolios 
have a weighted average maturity of less than 90 days, they are presented as an investment with a 
maturity of less than 6 months. 
 
In accordance with State law, the Town has invested in securities which are callable and which provide  
for periodic interest rate increases in specific increments until maturity. They are reported at fair value as 
determined by quoted market prices. 
 
2. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The Town pools money from several funds to facilitate disbursement and investments and to maximize 
investment income. Therefore, all cash and investments are essentially demand deposits and are 
considered cash and cash equivalents. 
 
3. Restricted Assets 
 
Powell Bill funds are classified as restricted cash because it can be expended only for the purposes of 
maintaining, repairing, constructing, reconstructing or widening of local streets per G.S. 136-41.1 through 
136-41.4. 
 
Liabilities payable to the City of Raleigh are also classified as restricted cash because these are funds 
that were prepaid by Wendell Falls. These funds do not belong to the Town, instead they are payable to 
the City of Raleigh. 
 
4. Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable 
 
In accordance with State law [G.S. 105-347 and G.S. 159-13(a)], the Town levies ad valorem taxes on 
property other than motor vehicles on July 1, the beginning of the fiscal year. The taxes are due on 
September 1 (lien date); however, interest does not accrue until the following January 6. These taxes are 
based on the assessed values as of January 1, 2009.   
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5. Allowances for Doubtful Accounts 
 
All receivables that historically experience uncollectible accounts are shown net of an allowance for 
doubtful accounts. This amount is estimated by analyzing the percentage of receivables that were written 
off in prior years. 
 
6. Prepaid Items 
 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaid items in both government – wide and fund financial statements and expensed as the items are 
used. 
 
7. Capital Assets 
 
The government defines capital assets as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than a certain cost 
and an estimated useful life in excess of two years. Minimum capitalization costs are as follows: land, 
$20,000; Buildings, improvements, substations, lines and other plant and distribution systems, $20,000; 
infrastructure, $10,000; furniture and equipment, $5,000; and vehicles, $15,000. Donated capital assets 
received prior to June 15, 2015 are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation. Donated 
capital assets received after June 15, 2015 are recorded at acquisition value. All other purchased or 
constructed capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost. The cost of normal 
maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives are 
not capitalized. 
  
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 
 
 

  Estimated 

 Asset Class 
Useful 
Lives 

   

 Infrastructure 30 
 Buildings 50 
 Improvements 25 
 Vehicles   6 
 Computer equipment   3 
 Furniture and office equipment 10 

 

     

    
8. Deferred outflows/inflows of resources 
 
In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred Outflows of 
Resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be 
recognized as an expense or expenditure until then. The Town has two items that meet this criterion, 
contributions made to the pension plan in the 2019 fiscal year and pension deferrals. In addition to 
liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows 
of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred Inflows of Resources, represents an 
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as revenue until 
then. The Town has two items that meets the criterion for this category – property taxes receivable and 
deferrals of pension expense. 
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9. Long-Term Obligations 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bond premiums and 
discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the 
straight-line method that approximates the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of 
the applicable bond premiums or discount. Bond issuance costs, except for prepaid insurance costs, are 
expensed in the reporting period in which they are incurred. Prepaid insurance costs are expensed over 
the life of the debt. 
 
In fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well 
as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other 
financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while 
discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not 
withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
10. Compensated Absences 
 
The vacation policies of the Town provide for the accumulation of up to thirty (30) days earned vacation 
leave with such leave being fully vested when earned. For the Town’s government-wide fund, an expense 
and liability for compensated absences and the salary-related payments are recorded as the leave is 
earned. The Town has assumed a first-in, first-out method of using compensated time. The portion of that 
time that is estimated to be used in the next fiscal year has been designated as a current liability in the 
government-wide financial statements. 
 
The Town’s sick leave policy provides for an unlimited accumulation of earned sick leave. Sick leave does 
not vest, but any unused sick leave accumulated at the time of retirement may be used in the 
determination of length of service for retirement benefit purposes. Since the Town has no obligation for 
the accumulated sick leave until it is actually taken, no accrual for sick leave has been made. 
 
11. Net Position/Fund Balances 
 
Net Position 
 
Net position in government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements is classified as net investment 
in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted. Restricted net position represents constraints on resources 
that are either externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments or imposed by law through State statute. 

 
Fund Balances 
 
In the governmental fund financial statements, fund balance is composed of five classifications designed 
to disclose the hierarchy of constraints placed on how fund balance can be spent.   
 
The governmental fund types classify fund balances as follows: 
 
Nonspendable Fund Balance – This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they 
are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
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Restricted Fund Balance – This classification includes amounts that are restricted to specific purposes 
externally imposed by creditors or imposed by law.  
 

Restricted for Stabilization by State statute – North Carolina G.S. 159-8 prohibits units of 
government from budgeting or spending a portion of their fund balance. This is one of several 
statutes enacted by the North Carolina State Legislature in the 1930’s that were designed to 
improve and maintain the fiscal health of local government units. Restricted by State statute 
(RSS), is calculated at the end of each fiscal year for all annually budgeted funds. The calculation 
in G.S. 159-8(a) provides a formula for determining what portion of fund balance is available for 
appropriation. The amount of fund balance not available for appropriation is what is known as 
“restricted by State statute”. Appropriated fund balance in any fund shall not exceed the sum of 
cash and investments minus the sum of liabilities, encumbrances, and deferred revenues arising 
from cash receipts, as those figures stand at the close of the fiscal year next preceding the 
budget. Per GASB guidance, RSS is considered a resource upon which a restriction is “imposed 
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.” RSS is reduced by inventories 
and prepaids as they are classified as nonspendable. Outstanding Encumbrances are included 
within RSS.  RSS is included as a component of Restricted Net position and Restricted fund 
balance on the face of the balance sheet.  
 
Restricted for Streets - Powell Bill portion of fund balance that is restricted by revenue source for 
street construction and maintenance expenditures. This amount represents the balance of the 
total unexpended Powell Bill funds.   

 
Committed Fund Balance – portion of fund balance that can only be used for specific purposes imposed 
by majority vote by quorum of the Town of Wendell’s governing body (highest level of decision-making 
authority). The governing body can, by adoption of an ordinance prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit 
fund balance. Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the ordinance remains in place until a similar 
action is taken (the adoption of another ordinance) to remove or revise the limitation. 
 
Assigned Fund Balance – portion of fund balance that the Town intends to use for specific purposes.  
 

Subsequent year’s expenditures – portion of fund balance that is appropriated in the next year’s 
budget that is not already classified in restricted or committed. The governing body approves the 
appropriation.  

 
Unassigned fund balance – portion of fund balance that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned 
to specific purposes or other funds.   
 
The Town of Wendell has a revenue spending policy that provides guidance for programs with multiple 
revenue sources. The Finance Director will use resources in the following hierarchy: bond proceeds, 
federal funds, State funds, local non-city funds, city funds. For purposes of fund balance classification 
expenditures are to be spent from restricted fund balance first, followed in-order by committed fund 
balance, assigned fund balance and lastly unassigned fund balance. The Finance Director has the 
authority to deviate from this policy if it is in the best interest of the Town.  
 
The Town of Wendell has also adopted a minimum fund balance policy for the general fund which 
instructs management to conduct the business of the Town in such a manner that available fund balance 
is at least equal to or greater than 40% of budgeted expenditures. Any portion of the general fund balance 
in excess of 40% of budgeted expenditures may be appropriated for one-time expenditures and may not 
be used for any purpose that would obligate the Town in a future budget. 
 
12. Pensions 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension asset, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS) and additions to/deductions from LGERS’ 
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fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by LGERS. For this 
purpose, plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. The 
Town’s employer contributions are recognized when due and the Town has a legal requirement to provide 
the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
terms of LGERS. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
II. Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 

A. Significant Violations of Finance-Related Legal and Contractual Provisions 
 
1. Noncompliance with North Carolina General Statutes 
 
None. 
 
2. Contractual Violations 
 
None.  
 
 
B. Deficit in Fund Balance or Net Position of Individual Funds 
 
None. 
 
C. Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations 
 
None. 
 

III. Detail Notes on All Funds 

A. Assets 
 
1. Deposits 
 
All the deposits of the Town are either insured or collateralized by using one of two methods. Under the 
Dedicated Method, all deposits that exceed the federal depository insurance coverage level are 
collateralized with securities held by the Town agents in these units’ names. Under the Pooling Method, 
which is a collateral pool, all uninsured deposits are collateralized with securities held by the State 
Treasurer's agent in the name of the State Treasurer. Since the State Treasurer is acting in a fiduciary 
capacity for the Town, these deposits are considered to be held by the Town’s agents in the Town’s 
name. The amount of the pledged collateral is based on an approved averaging method for non-interest 
bearing deposits and the actual current balance for interest-bearing deposits. Depositories using the 
Pooling Method report to the State Treasurer the adequacy of their pooled collateral covering uninsured 
deposits. The State Treasurer does not confirm this information with the Town or the escrow agent.  
Because of the inability to measure the exact amounts of collateral pledged for the Town under the 
Pooling Method, the potential exists for under-collateralization, and this risk may increase in periods of 
high cash flows. However, the State Treasurer of North Carolina enforces strict standards of financial 
stability for each depository that collateralizes public deposits under the Pooling Method. The Town has 
no policy regarding custodial credit risk for deposits. 
 
At June 30, 2019, the Town’s deposits had a carrying amount of $4,164,789 and a bank balance of 
$4,164,500. Of the bank balance, $250,000 was covered by federal depository insurance, $3,038,997 is 
insured by KS Bank, and the remainder was covered by collateral held under the pooling method.  At 
June 30, 2019, the Town’s petty cash fund totaled $100.   
 
 
 

Item 4b



Town of Wendell, North Carolina 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019 

35 
 

2. Investments 
 
At June 30, 2019, the Town of Wendell had $5,481,717 invested with the North Carolina Capital 
Management Trust’s Government Portfolio which carried a credit rating of AAAm by Standard and Poor’s. 
The City has no policy regarding credit risk. 
 
3. Capital Assets 

Primary Government 

Capital asset activity for the Primary Government for the year ended June 30, 2019, was as follows:  

B. Liabilities 
 
1. Pension Plan and Postemployment Obligations 
 
a. Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System 
 
Plan Description. The Town of Wendell is a participating employer in the statewide Local Governmental 
Employees’ Retirement System (LGERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan 
administered by the State of North Carolina. LGERS membership is comprised of general employees and 
local law enforcement officers (LEOs) of participating local governmental entities. Article 3 of G.S. 
Chapter 128 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina 
General Assembly. Management of the plan is vested in the LGERS Board of Trustees, which consists of 
13 members, nine appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State Senate, one appointed by the 

Adjustments
Beginning to Reconcile Ending
Balances Increases Decreases to Schedule Balances

$ 1,625,355    $ 3,000        $ -              $ -                 $ 1,628,355     
Land Improvements 382,557      -               -              -                 382,557        

2,007,912    3,000        -              -                 2,010,912     

4,117,097    107,298     -              -                 4,224,395     
2,002,641    183,697     132,386   -                 2,053,952     

Land Improvements 75,705        -               -              -                 75,705         
1,565,524    211,223     255,745   -                 1,521,002     

210,718      -               -              -                 210,718        
7,971,685    502,218     388,131   -                 8,085,772     

1,683,039    104,980     -              -                 1,788,019     
898,062      172,305     132,386   -                 937,981        
935,344      176,269     137,490   -                 974,123        

Land Improvements 6,964          4,679        -              -                 11,643         
149,055      6,322        -              -                 155,377        

3,672,464    $ 464,555     $ 269,876   $ -                 3,867,143     

 4,299,221          4,218,629     
$ 6,307,133    $ 6,229,541     

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

General Government 25% 116,139$     
Public Safety 35% 162,594      
Environmental Protection 20% 92,911        
Transportation 20% 92,911        

464,555$     

Total capital assets being depreciated, net
Governmental activity capital assets, net

Equipment
Vehicles and motorized equipment

Infrastructure
Total accumulated depreciation

Equipment

Vehicles and motorized equipment
Infrastructure

Total capital assets being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for

Buildings

Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated

Land

Total capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets being depreciated

Buildings

Item 4b



Town of Wendell, North Carolina 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019 

36 
 

State House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer and State Superintendent, who serve as ex-
officio members. The Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System is included in the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s CAFR 
includes financial statements and required supplementary information for LGERS. That report may be 
obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 
27699-1410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.osc.nc.gov. 
 
Benefits Provided. LGERS provides retirement and survivor benefits. Retirement benefits are determined 
as 1.85% of the member’s average final compensation times the member’s years of creditable service. A 
member’s average final compensation is calculated as the average of a member’s four highest 
consecutive years of compensation. Plan members are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 
65 with five years of creditable service, at age 60 with 25 years of creditable service, or at any age with 
30 years of creditable service. Plan members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age 
50 with 20 years of creditable service or at age 60 with five years of creditable service. Survivor benefits 
are available to eligible beneficiaries of members who die while in active service or within 180 days of 
their last day of service and who have either completed 20 years of creditable service regardless of age 
or have completed five years of service and reached age 60. Eligible beneficiaries may elect to receive a 
monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of the member’s contributions. The plan does not 
provide for automatic post-retirement benefit increases. Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains of 
the plan. 
 
LGERS plan members who are LEOs are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 55 with five 
years of creditable service as an officer, or at any age with 30 ears of creditable service. LEO plan 
members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age 50 with 15 years of creditable service 
as an officer. Survivor benefits are available to eligible beneficiaries of LEO members who die while in 
active service or within 180 days of their last day of service and who have either completed 20 years of 
creditable service regardless of age, or have completed 15 years of service as a LEO and have reached 
age 50, or have completed five years of creditable service as a LEO and have reached age 55, or have 
completed 15 years of creditable service as a LEO if killed in the line of duty. Eligible beneficiaries may 
elect to receive a monthly Survivor’s Alternate Benefit for life or a return of the member’s contributions. 
 
Contributions. Contribution provisions are established by General Statute 128-30 and may be amended 
only by the North Carolina General Assembly. The Town employees are required to contribute 6% of their 
compensation. Employer contributions are actuarially determined and set annually by the LGERS Board 
of Trustees. The Town’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2017, was 
8.25% of compensation for law enforcement officers and 7.50% for general employees, actuarially 
determined as an amount that, when combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the 
costs of benefits earned by employees during the year. Contributions to the pension plan from the Town 
were $189,829 for the year ended June 30, 2019. 
 
Refunds of Contributions - Town employees who have terminated service as a contributing member of 
LGERS, may file an application for a refund of their contributions. By State law, refunds to members with 
at least five years of service include 4% interest. State law requires a 60-day waiting period after service 
termination before the refund may be paid. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the individual’s 
rights to employer contributions or any other benefit provided by LGERS. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows 
of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At June 30, 2019, the Town reported a liability of $861,872 for its proportionate share of the net pension 
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2018. The total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2017. The 
total pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2018 utilizing update 
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. The Town’s proportion of the net pension liability was 
based on a projection of the Town’s long-term share of future payroll covered by the pension plan, 
relative to the projected future payroll covered by the pension plan of all participating LGERS employers, 
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actuarially determined. At June 30, 2019, 2018, 2017 and June 30, 2016, the Town’s proportion was 
0.03633%, 0.03718%, 0.03787% and 0.03714%, respectively.  
 
For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Town recognized pension expense of $223,442. At June 30, 2019, 
the Town reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
from the following sources: 

Deferred Outflows of Deferred Inflows of
Resources Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 132,966$                   4,462$                       
Changes of assumptions 228,708                     -                                 
Net differrence between projected and actual earnings on 

pension plan investments 118,310                     -                                 
Changes in proportion and differences between employer

contributions and proprortionate share of contributions -                                 28,617                       
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 189,829                     -                                 

Total 669,813$                   33,079$                     

$189,829 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from Town 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an increase of the net pension 
asset in the year ended June 30, 2020. Other amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions will be recognized as pension expense as follows: 
 
Future amortization:

Year Ended June 30:
2020 219,267$                   
2021 141,417
2022 20,472
2023 65,748
Total 446,904$                   

 
Actuarial Assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation was 
determined by using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the 
measurement: 
 
Inflation     3.0 percent 
Salary increases   3.50 to 8.10 percent, including inflation and productivity factor 
Investment rate of return  7.20 percent, net pension plan investment expense, 
     including inflation 
 
The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e. general, law 
enforcement officer) and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). The current mortality rates are based 
on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. The 
healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014. 
 
Future ad hoc COLA amounts are not considered to be substantively automatic and are therefore not 
included in the measurement. 
 
The projected long-term investment returns and inflation assumptions are developed through review of 
current and historical capital markets data, sell-side investment research, consultant whitepapers, and 
historical performance of investment strategies. Fixed income return projections reflect current yields 
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across the U.S. Treasury yield curve and market expectations of forward yields projected and interpolated 
for multiple tenors and over multiple year horizons. Global public equity return projections are established 
through analysis of the equity risk premium and the fixed income return projections. Other asset 
categories and strategies’ return projections reflect the foregoing and historical data by weighting the 
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset 
class of June 30, 2018 are summarized in the following table: 

Long-Term Expected
Asset Class Target Allocation Real Rate of Return
Fixed Income 29.0% 2.2%
Global Equity 42.0% 5.8%
Real Estate 8.0% 5.2%
Alternatives 8.0% 9.8%
Credit 7.0% 6.8%
Inflation Protection 6.0% 3.4%

Total 100%

 
The information above is based on 30 year expectations developed with the consulting actuary for the 
2016 asset liability and investment policy study for the North Carolina Retirement Systems, including 
LGERS. The long-term nominal rates of return underlying the real rates of return arithmetic annualized 
figures. The real rates of return are calculated from nominal rates by multiplicatively subtracting a long-
term inflation assumption of 3.00%. All rates of return and inflation are annualized. 
 
Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of 
cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be 
made at the current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily 
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan 
members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
 
Sensitivity of the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension asset to changes in the discount rate. The 
following presents the Town’s proportionate share the net pension asset calculated using the discount 
rate of 7.00 percent, as well as what the Town’s proportionate share of the net pension asset or net 
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower 
(6.00 percent) or one percentage point higher (8.20 percent) than the current rate: 

1% Discount 1%
Decrease Rate Increase

Town's proportionate share of the net (6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)
pension liability (asset) 2,070,291$         861,872$            (147,902)$          

 
Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North 
Carolina. 
 
b. Law Enforcement Officers Special Separation Allowance 
 
1.  Plan Description.   
 
The Town of Wendell administers a public employee retirement system (the Separation Allowance), a 
single-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides retirement benefits to the Town’s qualified 
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sworn law enforcement officers under the age 62 who have completed at least 30 years of creditable 
service or have attained 55 years of age and have completed five or more years of creditable service.  
 
The Separation Allowance is equal to 0.85 percent of the annual equivalent of the base rate of 
compensation most recently applicable to the officer for each year of creditable service. The retirement 
benefits are not subject to any increases in salary or retirement allowances that may be authorized by the 
General Assembly. Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit 
provisions to the North Carolina General Assembly.  
 
The Separation Allowance covers all full time law enforcement officers of the Town. At December 31, 
2018, the Separation Allowance’s membership consisted of: 
 

Retirees receiving benefits 1 
Terminated plan members entitled to but not yet receiving 
benefits 

- 

Active plan members 17 
Total 18 

 
2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:   
 
Basis of Accounting. The Town has chosen to fund the Separation Allowance on a pay as you go basis.  
Pension expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified accrual 
basis of accounting. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
terms of the plan. 
 
The Separation Allowance has no assets accumulated in a trust that meet the following criteria which are 
outlined in GASB Statements 73. 
 
3. Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The entry age actuarial cost method was used in the December 31, 2017 valuation. The total pension 
liability in the December 31, 2017 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 
Inflation       2.50 percent 
Salary increases      3.50 to 7.35 percent, including inflation and productivity 
 factor 
Discount rate       3.16 percent 
 
The discount rate is based on the yield of the S&P Municipal Bond 20 Year High Grade Rate Index as of 
December 31, 2017. 
 
Mortality rates are based on the RP-2000 Mortality tables with adjustments for mortality improvements 
based on Scale AA. 
 
4.  Contributions.   
 
The Town is required by Article 12D of G.S. Chapter 143 to provide these retirement benefits and has 
chosen to fund the amounts necessary to cover the benefits earned on a pay as you go basis through 
appropriations made in the General Fund operating budget. There were no contributions made by 
employees. The Town’s obligation to contribute to this plan is established and may be amended by the 
North Carolina General Assembly. Administration costs of the Separation Allowance are financed through 
investment earnings. The Town paid $0 as benefits came due for the reporting period. 
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows 
of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At June 30, 2019, the Town reported a total pension liability of $639,343 The total pension liability was 
measured as of December 31, 2017 based on a December 31, 2016 actuarial valuation. The total 
pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of December 31, 2017 utilizing update 
procedures incorporating the actuarial assumptions. For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Town 
recognized pension expense of $54,867. 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 38,004$                  2,564$                     

Changes of assumptions 26,814                    32,015                     

County benefit payments and plan administrative

expense made subsequent to the measurement date 38,180                    -                               

102,998$                34,579$                   

 
$38,180 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from benefit payments 
made and administrative expenses incurred subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a 
decrease of the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 
Year Ended June 30:

2020 5,783$                    

2021 5,783                      

2022 5,783                      

2023 6,487                      

2024 5,409                      

Thereafter 994                         

Total 30,239$                  

 
Sensitivity of the Town’s total pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the 
Town’s total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 3.16 percent, as well as what the 
Town’s total pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point 
lower (2.16 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.16 percent) than the current rate: 

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

2.64% 3.64% 4.64%

Total pension liability 669,811$             639,343$           584,261$          

2019
Beginning balance 605,877$                   
Service Cost 30,449                       
Interest on the total pension liability 18,635                       
Changes of benefit terms -                                 
Differences between expected and actual experience in the
measurement of the total pension liability 45,068                       
Changes of assumptions or other inputs (28,336)                      
Benefit payments (32,350)                      
Other changes -                                 
Ending balance of the total pension liability 639,343$                   

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability

Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance
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The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). 
The current mortality rates are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant 
portions of the U.S. population. The healthy mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future 
mortality improvements. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014. 
 
Total Expense, Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions.  
 
Following is information related to the proportionate share and pension expense for all pension plans:  
 

LGERS LEOSSA Total

Pension Expense 223,442$   54,867$   278,309$    

Pension Liability 861,872     639,343   1,501,215   

Proportionate share of the net pension liability 0.03633% n/a

Deferred of Outflows of Resources

   Differences between expected and actual experience 132,966     38,004     170,970      

   Changes of assumptions 228,708     26,814     255,522      

   Net difference between projected and actual earnings 118,310     -           118,310      

   on plan investments

   Changes in proportion and differences between contributions

   and proportionate share of contributions -             -           -              

   Benefit payments and administrative costs paid subsequent

   to the measurement date -             -           -              

   Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 189,829     38,180     228,009      

Deferred of Inflows of Resources

   Differences between expected and actual experience 4,462         2,564       7,026          

   Changes of assumptions -             32,015     32,015        

   Net difference between projected and actual earnings -             -           -              

   on plan investments

   Changes in proportion and differences between contributions

   and proportionate share of contributions 28,617       -           28,617        
 
 
c. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers 
 
Plan Description. The Town contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined 
contribution pension plan administered by the Department of State Treasurer and a Board of Trustees.  
The Plan provides retirement benefits to law enforcement officers employed by the Town. Article 5 of G.S. 
Chapter 135 assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the North Carolina 
General Assembly. The Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers is included 
in the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the State of North Carolina. The State’s CAFR 
includes the pension trust fund financial statements for the Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k) plan 
that includes the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Law Enforcement Officers. That report may 
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be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North 
Carolina 27699-1410, or by calling (919) 981-5454. 
 
Funding Policy. Article 12E of G.S. Chapter 143 requires the Town to contribute each month an amount 
equal to five percent of each officer's salary, and all amounts contributed are vested immediately. The law 
enforcement officers may also make voluntary contributions to the plan. 
 
Contributions for the year ended June 30, 2019 were $64,217, which consisted of $42,322 from the Town 
and $21,895 from the law enforcement officers. 
 
Supplemental Retirement Income Plan for Employees  
 
Plan Description. The Town contributes to the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (Plan), a defined 
contribution pension plan administered by the Department of State Treasurer and a Board of Trustees.  
The Plan provides retirement benefits to Town employees. 
 
Funding Policy. The Town elects to contribute each month an amount equal to five percent of each 
employee’s salary, and all amounts contributed are vested immediately. Also, the employees may make 
voluntary contributions to the Plan. Contributions for the year ended June 30, 2019 were $108,598, which 
consisted of $64,624 from the Town and $43,974 from the employees. 
 
d. Other Post-Employment Benefits 
 
Healthcare Benefits 
 
Plan Description. According to a Town resolution, the Town provides post-employment health care 
benefits to retirees of the Town, provided they participate in the North Carolina Local Governmental 
Employees’ Retirement System (System) and have at least five years of creditable service with the Town.   
 
The Town pays the full cost of coverage for these benefits through private insurers. Also, the Town’s 
retirees can purchase coverage for their dependents at the Town’s group rates. Currently 7 retirees are 
eligible for post-employment health benefits. The Town Council may amend the benefit provisions. A 
separate report was not issued for the plan. 
 
The following summarizes the membership of the Plan as of June 30, 2016, the Valuation Date.  
 

Inactive employees/beneficiaries currently receiving 
benefits 

7 

Inactive members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits - 
Active employees 47 
Total 54 

 
 
 
Funding Policy. By Town resolution, the Town pays the full cost of coverage for the healthcare benefits 
paid to qualified retirees. The Town has chosen to fund the healthcare benefits on a pay as you go basis. 
Post-employment expenditures are made from the General Fund, which is maintained on the modified 
accrual basis of accounting. No funds are set aside to pay benefits and administration costs. These 
expenditures are paid as they come due. In fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the Town made no 
payments for post-employment health benefit premiums. 
 
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation. The Town’s annual other post-employment benefit (OPEB) 
cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC). 
 
The Town has elected to calculate the ARC and related information using the alternative measurement 
method permitted by GASB Statement 45 for employers in plans with fewer than one hundred total plan 
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members. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover 
normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to 
exceed thirty years. 
 
Total OPEB Liability. 
 
The Town’s OPEB liability of $3,753,575 was measured as of December 31, 2017 and was determined 
by an actuarial valuation as of that date.    
 
The TOL (Total OPEB Liability) was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016, using the 
following key actuarial assumptions and other inputs: 
 
Inflation       2.50% 
Real Wage Growth      1.00% 
Wage inflation       3.50% 
Salary increases, including wage inflation 
   General employees     3.50% – 7.75% percent  
   Law Enforcement Officers                                  3.50% – 7.35% percent 
Municipal Bond Index Rate 
   Prior measurement date          3.56% 
    Measurement date            3.78% 
Health Care Cost Trends 
   Pre-Medicare                      7.25% for 2018 decreasing to rate of 4.75% by 2028 
   Medicare           5.38% for 2016 decreasing to rate of 4.75% by 2022  
 
The discount rate used to measure the TOL was based on the June average of the Bond Buyer General 
Obligation 20-year Municipal Bond Index published weekly by The Bond Buyer.  
 
Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 mortality rates, with adjustments for LGERS experience and 
generational mortality improvements using Scale MP-2015. 
 
The demographic actuarial assumptions for retirement, disability incidence, withdrawal, and salary 
increases used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study 
for the period January 1, 2010 – December 31, 2014, adopted by the LGERS.  
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability. 
 

Total OPEB Liability

Balance at July 1, 2018 4,154,063$                   

Changes for the year

     Service cost 181,114                        

     Interest 147,010                        

     Changes of benefit terms -                                

     Differences between expected and actual experience (463,841)                       

     Changes in assumptions or other inputs (215,215)                       

     Benefit payments (49,556)                         

          Net changes (400,488)                       

Balance at June 30, 2019 3,753,575$                   

 
Sensitivity of the Town’s OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate. The following presents the Town’s 
total OPEB liability calculated using the discount rate of 3.56 percent, as well as what the Town’s total 
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OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.56 
percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.56 percent) than the current rate: 
 

1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase

2.89% 3.89% 4.89%

Total OPEB Liability 4,544,829$      3,753,575$      3,139,015$       
 
Sensitivity of the Town’s OPEB liability to changes in the health care cost trend rates. The following 
presents the Town’s total OPEB liability, as well as what the Town’s total OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the 
current rate: 
 

1% Decrease Current 1% Increase

Total OPEB Liability 3,064,027$      3,753,575$      4,667,819$       
 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB. 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2019, the Town recognized OPEB expense of $200,803. At June 30, 2019, 
the Town reported deferred outflows or resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from 
the following sources: 
 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Diffferences between expected and actual experience 18,346$                     410,770$              

Changes of assumptions -                             555,324                

Benefit payments and administrative costs made

subsequent to the measurement date -                             -                        

     Total 18,346$                     966,094$              

 
$20,974 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to differences between expected and actual 
experience will be recognized as a decrease to the total OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 2019. 
Other amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related to the OPEB liability will be recognized 
as follows: 
 

Year Ended June 30:

2019 (127,321)$      

2020 (127,321)        

2021 (127,321)        

2022 (127,321)        

2023 (127,321)        

Thereafter (311,143)        

Total (947,748)$      
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2. Other Employment Benefits 
 
The Town has also elected to provide death benefits to employees through the Death Benefit Plan for 
members of the Local Governmental Employees' Retirement System (Death Benefit Plan), a multiple-
employer, State-administered, cost-sharing plan funded on a one-year term cost basis.  The beneficiaries 
of those employees who die in active service after one year of contributing membership in the System, or 
who die within 180 days after retirement or termination of service and have at least one year of 
contributing membership service in the System at the time of death are eligible for death benefits.  Lump 
sum death benefit payments to beneficiaries are equal to the employee's 12 highest months’ salary in a 
row during the 24 months prior to the employee's death, but the benefit may not exceed $50,000 or be 
less than $25,000. All death benefit payments are made from the Death Benefit Plan. The Town has no 
liability beyond the payment of monthly contributions. The contributions to the Death Benefit Plan cannot 
be separated between the post-employment benefit amount and the other benefit amount. Contributions 
are determined as a percentage of monthly payroll based upon rates established annually by the State. 
Separate rates are set for employees not engaged in law enforcement and for law enforcement officers.  
 
3. Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 
 
Deferred outflows of resources at year-end is comprised of the following: 
 

Amount

20,974$                           
Pension deferrals - LEO 32,747                             
Pension deferrals - LGERS 251,754                           
Contributions to the pension plan in current fiscal year - LEO 2,979                               
Contributions to the pension plan in current fiscal year - LGERS 172,578                           
Total 481,032$                         

Source

Pension deferrals - OPEB

 
Deferred inflows of resources at year-end is comprised of the following: 
 

Source Amount

Pension deferrals - OPEB 18,346$                       
Pension deferrals - LEO 64,818                         
Pension deferrals - LGERS 479,984                       
Property taxes receivable 34,920                         
Total 598,068$                     

 
4. Risk Management 
 
The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Town participates in three 
self-funded risk-financing pools administered by the North Carolina League of Municipalities. Through 
these pools, the Town obtains general liability and auto liability coverage of $1 million per occurrence, 
property coverage up to the total insurance values of the property policy, workers’ compensation 
coverage up to statutory limits, and employee health coverage up to a $2 million lifetime limit. The pools 
are reinsured through commercial companies for single occurrence claims against general liability, auto 
liability and property in excess of $500,000 and $300,000 up to statutory limits for workers’ compensation.  
The pools are reinsured for annual employee health claims in excess of $150,000. The property liability 
pool has an aggregate limit for the total property losses in a single year, with the reinsurance limit based 
upon a percentage of the total insurance values. 
 
The Town carries commercial coverage for all other risks of loss. There have been no significant 
reductions in insurance coverage in the prior year, and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any 
of the past three fiscal years. 
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The Town carries flood insurance through the National Flood Insurance Plan (NFIP). Because the Town 
is in an area of the State that has been mapped and designated an “X” area (an area determined to be 
outside the 0.2% annual chance and future conditions 1% annual chance floodplain) by the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency, the Town has purchased commercial flood insurance for $50,000 per 
occurrence. 
 
In accordance with G.S. 159-29, the Town’s employees that have access to $100 or more at any given 
time of the Town’s funds are performance bonded through a commercial surety bond. The finance officer 
is individually bonded for $500,000. The remaining employees that have access to funds are bonded 
under a blanket bond for $250,000. 
 
5.  Deposits Held 
 
The Town owes $1,860,266 to utility customers for deposits collected to secure services. 
 
6.  Operating Leases 
 
The Town leases two parcels of land on an annual basis at a cost of $1,000 and $1,200 per parcel per 
year. 
 
7. Long-Term Obligations 
 
Serviced by the General Fund: 
 
On June 22, 2017, the Town entered into a direct borrowing agreement with Branch Banking and Trust 
Company (BB&T) which was broken up into two components. The first component is related to the the 
construction of a multipurpose field, the purchase and up-fit of a police facility, wayfinding signage 
throughout the Town, construction of tennis courts and a community center. Annual installments of 
$105,500 plus interest are payable on or before May 8 each year through May 2027 with an interest rate 
of 2.40%. The Town owes $844,000 on the first component as of June 30, 2019. The second component 
is related to the purchase of open space. Annual installments of $24,167 plus interest are payable on or 
before May 8 of each year through May 2023 with an interest rate of 2.11%. The Town owes $82,736 on 
the second component as of June 30, 2019. 
 
On September 14, 2015, the Town entered into a direct borrowing agreement with First Citizens Bank to 
finance the purchase of five police cars, a John Deere field rake, a John Deere mower, a projector, a 
monitor, a mini excavator, and a utility loader. Annual installments, $62,866, are payable on or before 
September 16 each year through September 16, 2019, with an interest rate of 1.53%. The Town owes 
$61,944 on this note as of June 30, 2019. 
 
On September 5, 2017, the Town entered into a direct borrowing agreement with KS Bank, Inc. to finance 
the purchase of various equipment. The total amount of the loan is $507,000. Annual installments of 
$104,935 are payable on or before September 6 of each year through September 6, 2021. The Town 
owes $304,155 on this note as of June 30, 2019.   
 
On May 23, 2016, the Town entered into a direct borrowing with KS Bank, Inc. to finance the purchase or 
improvements of real or personal property. The total amount of the loan is $1,500,00. Annual installments 
of $100,000 plus interest are payable on or before May 20 each year through May 20, 2031, with an 
interest rate of 3.29%. The Town owes $1,200,000 on this note as of June 30, 2019. 
 
Serviced by the Water and Sewer Fund: 
 
North Carolina Clean Water Loan - The Town obtained a State revolving fund loan. These funds were 
federal funds from the Environmental Protection Agency that were passed through the North Carolina 
Department of Environment, Health, and Natural Resources. The funds were used for wastewater 
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treatment works projects pursuant to the North Carolina Clean Water Revolving Loan and Grant Act of 
1987, and the Federal Clean Water Act Amendments of 1987. The project had been approved and 
certified by the Environmental Management Commission as being entitled to priority for State loan funds 
made available by the Federal Clean Water Act Amendments of 1987. The approved loan amount was 
$3,860,094 with an interest rate of 3.85% payable over 20 years. The payoff date is May 1, 2022. On 
September 19, 2000, the Town’s application for a North Carolina Water Loan, $844,304, and Grant, 
$2,000,000, was approved. As of June 30, 2004, $668,089 had been borrowed, and $2,000,000 of the 
grant had been spent. The Town owes $105,487 on this loan as of June 30, 2019. 
 
2006 Water Pollution Control Federal Revolving Loan - On September 6, 2005, the Town entered into 
a loan agreement to finance the construction of the Buffalo Creek Project. The loan at closing totaled 
$6,110,168 with a $182,400 grant from the Environmental Protection Agency. The loan bears interest at 
2.305%, and interest payments are due semiannually on or before May 1 and November 1. Annual 
principal installments of $381,885 are due on or before May 1. The loan matures on May 1, 2023. The 
Town owes $1,527,542 on this loan as of June 30, 2019. 
              
At June 30, 2019, the Town of Wendell had legal debt margin of $49,225,490. 

 
Annual debt service requirements to maturity for long-term obligations are as follows: 
 

  
 

 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
b.   Changes in Long-Term Obligation 

 
Year Ending

June 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest
           

2020 391,255$     68,123$     417,048$      39,957$        
2021 331,035       59,010       417,048        29,572          
2022 332,813       50,906       417,048        19,187          
2023 215,733       42,780       381,866        8,802            
2024 205,500       36,520       -                  -                   

2025-2029 816,500       94,188       -                  -                   
2030-2031 200,000       13,160       -                  -                   

Total 2,492,836$  364,687$   1,633,010$   97,518$        

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities

Balance Balance Current
July 1, 2018 Increases Decreases June 30, 2019 Portion

Note payable direct borrowing 
BB&T Note Payable 103,420$      -$                 20,684$       82,736$           24,167$       
BB&T Note Payable 2017 949,500        -                   105,500       844,000           105,500       
First Citizens Loan 122,930        -                   60,986         61,944            60,986         
KS Bank Loan 402,089        -                   97,934         304,155           97,939         
KS Bank Loan 1,300,000     -                   100,000       1,200,000        100,000       

OPEB obligation 4,154,063     -                   400,488       3,753,575        -                  
Net pension liability (LGERS) 568,007        293,865        -                  861,872           -                  
Net pension liabiity (LEO) 605,877        33,466          -                  639,343           -                  
Compensated absences 199,957        45,747          30,636         215,068           215,068       

8,405,843$    373,078$       816,228$      7,962,693$      603,660$      

140,650$      -$                 35,162$       105,488$         35,163$       
Federal Revolving Loan 1,909,428     -                   381,886       1,527,542        381,886       

2,050,078$    -$                 417,048$      1,633,030$      417,049$      

Governmental activities:

Business-type activity long-term liabilities

Governmental activity long-term liabilities

Business-type activities:
NC Clean Water Loan
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8. Transfer of assets and operations 
 
The Town entered into an agreement to transfer its water and sewer fund assets and operations to the 
City of Raleigh. This agreement was effective October 2, 2006. As a result of this agreement, $6,978,946 
in net position was transferred to the City of Raleigh during the year ended June 30, 2006. The Town of 
Wendell will continue to hold the debt related to the assets transferred. The City of Raleigh will reimburse 
the Town of Wendell for principal and interest as payments are made. 
 
C. Fund Balance 
 
The following schedule provides management and citizens with information on the portion of General 
Fund balance that is available for appropriation: 
 

Total fund balance - General Fund 7,483,728        
Less:
Stabilization by State Statute 365,136           
Subsequent years expenditures 696,500           
Streets 84,516             
Remaining Fund Balance 6,337,576$       

 
The Town of Wendell has a revenue spending policy that provides guidance for programs with multiple 
revenue sources. The Finance Director will use resources in the following hierarchy: bond proceeds, 
federal funds, State funds, local non-town funds, town funds. For purposes of fund balance classification 
expenditures are to be spent from restricted fund balance first, followed in-order by committed fund 
balance, assigned fund balance and lastly unassigned fund balance. The Finance Director has the 
authority to deviate from this policy if it is in the best interest of the Town.  
 
The Town of Wendell has also adopted a minimum fund balance policy for the General Fund which 
instructs management to conduct the business of the Town in such a manner that available fund balance 
is at least equal to or greater than 40% of budgeted expenditures. Any portion of the General Fund 
balance in excess of 40% of budgeted expenditures may be appropriated for one-time expenditures and 
may not be used for any purpose that would obligate the Town in a future budget. 
 
IV. Summary Disclosure of Significant Contingencies 
 
State Assisted Programs 
 
The Town has received proceeds from State grants. Periodic audits of these grants are required and 
certain costs may be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the grant agreements.  
Such audits could result in the refund of grant moneys to the grantor agencies. Management believes that 
any required refunds will be immaterial. No provision has been made in the accompanying financial 
statements for the refund of grant moneys. 
  
V. Subsequent Events – Date of Management’s Review 

The Town has evaluated subsequent events from the date of the balance sheet through the date the 
report is available to be issued which is the date of the independent auditors’ report. The Town has not 
evaluated subsequent events after that date. There were no subsequent events during this period that 
require disclosure. 
 
VI. Commitment 

The Town has contracted with Waste Industries for the provision of solid waste and recycling collection 
from July 1, 2011 through June 30, 2017. The contract was extended through June 30, 2020. Obligations 
are based on agreed-upon rates applied to the number of homes serviced. The Town paid $766,538 for 
services rendered during the year ended June 30, 2019. 

Item 4b



Town of Wendell, North Carolina 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019 

49 
 

 
VII. Sale of Capital Assets 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Town sold capital assets and received proceeds of $89,870 
which has been recorded as a gain on sale of capital assets in the financial statements. 
 
VIII. Special Item 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Town disposed of a vehicle.  This item is reflected on the 
government-wide statements as a special item because it is unusual in nature but under the control of 
management. The transaction resulted in a loss of $118,255. The vehicle was sold for $89,870. The net 
effect of these two transactions was a loss of ($28,385). 
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Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) for Local Government 
Employees' Retirement System

Schedule of Contributions to Local Government Employees' Retirement System

Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability- Law Enforcement Officers' Special
Separation Allowance

Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL DATA

This section contains additional information required by generally accepted accounting principles.
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Town of Wendell
Schedule of Changes in the Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Required Supplementary Information
June 30, 2019

2019 2018
Total OPEB Liability

Service Cost 181,114$      207,073$      
Interest 147,010        129,727        
Changes of benefit terms -                -                
Differences between expected and actual experience (463,841)       23,602          
Changes of assumptions (215,215)       (469,241)       
Benefit payments (49,556)         (93,268)         
Net change in total OPEB liability (400,488)       (202,107)       
Total OPEB liability - beginning 4,154,063     4,356,170     
Total OPEB liability - ending 3,753,575$   4,154,063$   

Covered payroll 2,355,277$   2,092,063$   
Total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered payroll 159.37% 198.56%

Notes to Schedule

Fiscal year Rate
2019 3.18%
2018 3.09%

Changes in assumptions: Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of changes in the discount rate of 
each period. The following are the discount rates used in each period
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Wendell's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) (%) 0.36330% 0.03718% 0.03787% 0.03714% 0.03646% 0.03820%

Wendell's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) ($) 861,872$     861,872$     803,729$     166,683$     (215,021)$    460,457$     

Wendell's covered payroll 2,108,238$  2,090,524$  1,972,882$  1,695,390$  1,838,782$  1,838,782$  

Wendell's proportionate share of the net pension liability
(asset) as a percentage of its covered payroll 40.88115% 41.22756% 40.73883% 9.83154% (11.69366%) 25.04141%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total 
pension liability** 91.63% 94.18% 91.47% 98.09% 102.64% 94.35%

* The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ending June 30.
** This will be the same percentage for all participant employers in the LGERS plan.

Local Government Employees' Retirement System

Town of Wendell
Town of Wendell's Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability (Asset)

Required Supplementary Information
Last Five Fiscal's Years *
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Contractually required contribution 189,829$     189,829$     159,048$        144,231$        135,248$           129,421$           

Contributions in relation to the contractually required 
contribution 189,829       189,829       159,048          144,231 135,248 129,421

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$             -$             -$                -$                -$                  -$                  

Wendell's covered payroll 2,355,277$  2,108,238$  2,095,958$     2,090,524$     1,972,882$        1,695,390$        

Contributions as a percentage of covered
payroll 8.06% 9.00% 7.59% 6.90% 6.86% 7.63%

Town of Wendell
Town of Wendell Contributions

Required Supplementary Information
Last Six Fiscal's Years

Local Government Employees' Retirement System
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2019 2018 2017
Beginning balance 605,877$ 547,625$ 539,477$ 
Service Cost 30,449     24,147     25,610     
Interest on the total pension liability 18,635     20,721     18,874     
Changes of benefit terms -              -              -              
Differences between expected and actual experience in the measurement
of the total pension liability 45,068     (3,698)      -              
Changes of assumptions or other inputs (28,336)    38,680     (14,738)    
Benefit payments (32,350)    (21,598)    (21,598)    
Other changes -              -              -              
Ending balance of the total pension liability 639,343$ 605,877$ 547,625$ 

     The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior year ending December 31.

Town of Wendell
Schedule of Changes in Total Pension Liability

Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance
June 30, 2019
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2019 2018 2017
Total pension liability 639,343$      605,877$      547,625$      
Covered payroll 874,020        869,793        874,149        
Total pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll 73.15% 69.66% 62.65%

Notes to the schedules:

The Town of Wendell has no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB
Statement 73 to pay related benefits.

Town of Wendell
Schedule of Total Pension Liability as a Percentage of Covered Payroll

Law Enforcement Officers' Special Separation Allowance
June 30, 2019
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Town of Wendell
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Variance
Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:
Ad valorem taxes:

Taxes $ $ 3,248,565           $
Penalties and interest  6,850                  

Total 3,232,988  3,255,415           22,427            
 

Other taxes and licenses:
Motor vehicle licenses 124,242              

Total 101,570     124,242              22,672            

Unrestricted intergovernmental:
Local option sales taxes  1,526,932           
Utilities sales tax  392,768              
Beer and wine tax  29,567                
Solid waste disposal tax 4,853                  
Payments in lieu of taxes-outside sources  2,802                  

Total 1,821,399  1,956,922           135,523          

Restricted intergovernmental:
Powell Bill allocation  178,830              
ABC Revenue for law enforcement 24,706                
Grant - CDBG 50,000                
Grant - NCLM 24,200                
NC Works 6,647                  
PARTF -                      

Total 288,588     284,383              (4,205)             

Restricted contributions:
Recreation sponsor 10,220                

4,900         10,220                5,320              

Permits and fees:
Recreation fees  101,822              
Solid waste disposal  781,334              
Cemetery fees  21,000                
Development and planning fees 176,103              
Code enforcement fees  5,324                  
Court revenue 1,190                  
Administrative fees 2,001                  
Raleigh transaction fees 1,567                  

Total 978,200     1,090,341           112,141          

Sales and services:
Rent and concessions  114,865              

Total 89,550       114,865              25,315            

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019
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Town of Wendell
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Variance
Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019

Investment earnings 114,575     168,227              53,652            

Miscellaneous -             19,688                19,688            

Total revenues 6,631,770  7,024,303           392,533          

Expenditures: Governing Board
Personnel services 28,635                
Capital outlay -                          
Operating expenses 51,246                

Total 95,050       79,881                15,169            

Administration  
Personnel services  604,444              
Operating expenses  70,891                

Total 702,950     675,335              27,615            

Information Technology  
Personnel services 9,534                  
Capital outlay 10,465                
Operating expenses 85,022                

Total 149,760     105,021              44,739            

Economic Development  
Operating expenses 1,630                  

Total 64,600       1,630                  62,970            

Community Development and Planning  
Personnel services 205,386              
Operating expenses 42,557                

Total 307,250     247,943              59,307            

Police-Law Enforcement
Personnel services 1,172,618           
Capital outlay 210,709              
Operating expenses 216,624              

Total 1,680,010  1,599,951           80,059            

Fire Service 8,100         2,243                  5,857              

Public Buildings and Grounds
Operating expenses 160,720              
Capital outlay 128,983              

Total 340,345     289,703              50,642            
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Town of Wendell
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and 
Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Variance
Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019

Public Works
Personnel services 586,048              
Capital outlay 151,728              
Operating expenses 916,831              

Total 1,822,035  1,654,607           167,428          

Parks and Recreation
Personnel services 157,200              
Operating expenses 537,420              
Capital outlay 69,757                

Total 840,515     764,377              76,138            

Non-departmental   
Personnel services 359,932              
Operating expenses 114,098              

Total 577,128     474,030              103,098          
   
Debt service

Principal retirement  385,104               
Interest and other charges 139,223              

Total 524,327     524,327              -                  
 

Total expenditures 7,112,070  6,419,048           693,022          

Revenues over (under) expenditures (480,300)    605,255              1,085,555       

Other financing sources (uses):
Sale of assets 85,500       89,870                4,370              
Issuance of debt -                 -                          -                      
Cell tower proceeds -                 1,000                  1,000              
Insurance proceeds 149,000     149,000              -                      
Appropriated Fund Balance 245,800     -                          (245,800)         

     Total 480,300     239,870              (240,430)         

Revenues and other financing sources
    over expenditures and other
    financing uses $ -                 845,125              $ 845,125          

Fund balances, beginning  6,638,603           
Fund balances, ending  $ 7,483,728           

58

Item 4b



Variance 
Positive

 Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:

Charges for water $ $ -               $
Other charges -               

Total -                -               -                

Sales tax refunds -                -               -                

Other operating revenues
Total operating revenues -                -               -                

Non-operating revenues:
Interest earnings

Total revenues  -                -               -                

Expenditures:
Water systems operations

   Other operating expenditures
Total -                -               -                

Non-departmental
   Personnel servicesOther operating expenditures

Total -                -               -                

Debt service  
Interest and other charges  7,911             
Principal retirement  35,163           

Total debt service 132,149         43,074          89,075           

Total expenditures 132,149         43,074          89,075           

Other financing sources (uses):
City of Raleigh - debt payment 132,149         43,074          (89,075)          
Transfer - in from general fund -                -               -                
Transfer - out to general fund -                -               -                

Total other financing sources  
  (uses) 132,149         43,074          (89,075)          

Revenues and other sources over  (under)  
   expenditures and other uses $ -                    $ -                   $ -                    

Town of Wendell
Water Fund

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures
Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019
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Variance 
Positive

 Budget Actual (Negative)

Town of Wendell
Water Fund

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures
Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019

  

Reconciliation from budgetary basis 
(modified accrual) to full accrual:

Revenues and other sources over 
   expenditures and other uses $ -                   

Reconciling items:
Principal retirement 35,163          
Principal reimbursement (35,163)        
 Total reconciling items -                   

Net income $ -                   
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Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures
Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

  

Variance 
Positive

 Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues:

Charges for sewer $ $ -                 $
Other charges -                 

Total -                -                 -                

Sales tax refunds -                -                 -                

Other operating revenues -                 
Total operating revenues -                -                 -                

Non-operating revenues:
Interest earnings -                 

 Total non-operating revenues -                -                 -                

Total revenues  -                -                 -                

Expenditures:
Sewer systems operations

   Personnel services -                 
   Other operating expenditures -                 
   Other operating expendituresCapital outlay -                 

Total -                -                 -                

Wastewater treatment
   Personnel services -                 
   Other operating expenditures -                 

Total -                -                 -                

Non-departmental
   Personnel services -                 
   Other operating expenditures -                 

Total -                -                 -                

Debt service  
Interest and other charges  44,012            
Principal retirement  381,886          

Total debt service 803,807         425,898         377,909         
Total expenditures 803,807         425,898         377,909         

Town of Wendell
Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019
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Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures
Budget and Actual (Non - GAAP)

  

Variance 
Positive

 Budget Actual (Negative)

Town of Wendell
Sewer Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019

Other financing sources (uses):
City of Raleigh - debt payment 803,807         425,898         377,909         
Transfer (to) from general fund -                -                 -                

Total other financing sources  
  (uses) 803,807         425,898         377,909         

Revenues and other sources over  (under)  
   expenditures and other uses -$              -$               -$              

 

Reconciliation from budgetary basis 
(modified accrual) to full accrual:

Revenues and other sources over 
   expenditures and other uses -$               

Reconciling items:
Principal retirement 381,886         
Principal reimbursement (381,886)        
 Total reconciling items -                 

Net income -$               
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Town of Wendell
General Fund

Schedule of Ad Valorem Taxes Receivable

Uncollected Uncollected
Tax Balance Collections Balance
Year June 30, 2018 Additions And Credits June 30, 2019

 
2018 -$                          3,267,770$                       3,259,591$                               8,179$                 
2017 5,049                    -                                       3,798                                        1,251                   
2016 1,408                    -                                       525                                           883                      
2015 1,217                    -                                       538                                           679                      
2014 1,274                    -                                       379                                           895                      
2013 6,985                    -                                       565                                           6,420                   
2012 6,584                    -                                       517                                           6,067                   
2011 5,608                    -                                       508                                           5,100                   
2010 6,148                    -                                       702                                           5,446                   
2009 7,154                    -                                       7,154                                        -                           

 41,427$                 3,267,770$                       3,274,277$                               34,920$               

Ad valorem taxes receivable - net 34,920$               

Reconcilement with revenues:

Ad valorem taxes - General Fund 3,255,415$           
  Reconciling items:
     Interest collected 6,850                   
     Adjustments 12,012                 
       Subtotal 18,862
Total collections and credits 3,274,277$           

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019
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Property

excluding

Registered Registered

Property Total Motor Motor

Valuation Rate Levy Vehicles Vehicles
Original levy:

Property taxed at current  

Real and personal property 601,513,789$     0.49 2,947,418$         2,947,418$      -$               

Registered motor vehicles taxed

     at prior year's rate 68,630,332         0.49 336,289              -                       288,602     

Discoveries 490,200               2,401                  2,401               -                 

Releases (3,742,400)           (18,338)              (18,338)            -                 
   Total Property Valuation 666,891,921$     3,267,770$         2,931,481$      288,602$   

 

Net levy 3,267,770$          2,931,481$      288,602$   

Uncollected taxes at June 30, 2019 (8,179)  (8,179)              -                 

Current year's taxes collected 3,259,591$          2,923,302$      288,602$   

Current levy collection percentage 99.75% 99.72% 100.00%

Total Levy

Town - Wide

Town of Wendell

Analysis of Current Tax Levy

Town - Wide Levy
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019
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Independent Auditors’ Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting And 
On Compliance and Other Matters Based On An Audit Of Financial Statements 

Performed In Accordance With Government Auditing Standards 
 
 

To the Honorable Mayor 
and Members of the Board of Commissioners 
Town of Wendell 
Wendell, North Carolina 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained 
in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States, the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, and each major fund of the Town of Wendell, North Carolina, as 
of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Town of Wendell’s basic financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 18, 2019. 
 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town 
of Wendell’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing 
our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Town of Wendell’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not 
allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material 
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that 
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control 
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by 
those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal 
control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these 
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not 
been identified. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters  

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of Wendell’s financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, 
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of 
financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 

 
PETWAY___________  
MILLS &___________  
PEARSON, PA__ ____ 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 
C. Briggs Petway, Jr. 
Phyllis M. Pearson 
 
 
Zebulon Office 
P.O. Box 1036 
806 N. Arendell Ave. 
Zebulon, NC  27597 
919.269.7405 
919.269.8728 Fax 
 
Raleigh Office 
9121 Anson Way 
Raleigh, NC  27615 
919-781-1047 

 
www.pmpcpa.com 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Memberships: 
 
North Carolina 
Association of  
Certified Public 
Accountants 
 
 
American Institute 
Of Certified Public 
Accountants 
 
 
Medical Group  
Management 
Association 
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Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral 
part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication 
is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 

 
PETWAY MILLS & PEARSON, PA 
Certified Public Accountants 
Zebulon, North Carolina 
 
October 18, 2019 
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SECTION I. –  SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS

Financial Statements

Type of auditors' report issued:  Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? yes X no

Significant deficiency (ies) identified

that are not considered to be  

material weaknesses? yes X none reported

 

Noncompliance material to financial 

  statements noted yes X no

Town of Wendell
Schedule of Findings and Responses

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
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SECTION II.  –  FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

None Reported.

Town of Wendell
Schedule of Findings and Responses

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
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SECTION II. –  FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

None Required.

Town of Wendell
Corrective Action Plan

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
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SECTION II. –  FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS

There were no prior year audit financial statement findings.

Town of Wendell
Summary Schedule of Prior Year's Audit Findings

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
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STATE/
FEDERAL PASS-THROUGH

CFDA GRANTOR'S
NUMBER NUMBER EXPENDITURES

FEDERAL GRANTS:
U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
     Pass-through NC Department of Commerce - 
     Rural Economic Development Division

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 14.228 - 50,000$             

TOTAL FEDERAL AWARDS 50,000$             

NC STATE GRANTS:

Governor's Crime Commission PROJ012368 24,200$             

Powell Bill DOT-4 157,281             

TOTAL STATE AWARDS 181,481$           

TOTAL FEDERAL AND STATE AWARDS 231,481$           

Note to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards:

Basis of Presentation

Indirect Costs

NC Department of Public Safety

NC Department of Transportation 

The Town has not elected to charge a 10% de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under Uniform Guidance.

PROGRAM TITLE

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported in the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards are reported on the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in Uniform
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.

Town of Wendell
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2019

GRANTOR/PASS-THROUGH GRANTOR

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards includes the Federal and State grant activity
of the Town of Wendell under the programs of the State of North Carolina for the year ended June 30, 2019. The
information in this Schedule of Expenditures of Federal and State Awards is presented in accordance with the
requirements of Title 2 US Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and the State Single Audit Implementation Act. Because the
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the Town of Wendell, it is not intended to and does not
present the financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the Town of Wendell.
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Date:   November 12, 2019                    Item # 5a 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Item Title: 
 
Evidentiary Hearing on a Special Use request by Westerlund and Schearer Hospitality LLC to 
permit a Bar/Taproom at 1 North Main Street. 
 
Report to the Board of Commissioners: 
 
Tuesday, November 12, 2019 
 
Specific Action Requested: 

 
Hold a public hearing and take action on a Special Use Permit request to permit a Bar/Taproom 
at 1 North Main Street. 
 
Item Summary: 
 
Westerlund and Schearer Hospitality LLC has requested a Special Use Permit to operate a 
Bar/Taproom at 1 North Main Street (PIN #1783698823). 
 
The proposed special use request would allow the tenant to operate a bar/tap room at the 
location. Since the proposed operation includes on-site alcohol consumption and does not meet 
the definition of a restaurant, the applicant is required to request a Special Use Permit as a 
bar/taproom.  Per their application, the hours of operation would be: 
 
   Initial Hours:   Future Planned Lunch Hours: 

Sunday: 4:00 pm – 8:00 pm    11:00 am – 2:00 pm 
Monday:  5:00 pm – 9:00 pm  11:00 am – 2:00 pm 
Tuesday: 4:00 pm – 9:00 pm  11:00 am – 2:00 pm 
Wednesday: 4:00 pm – 10:00 pm  11:00 am – 2:00 pm 
Thursday: 4:00 pm – 10:00 pm  11:00 am – 2:00 pm 
Friday:  11:00 am – 12:00 am  11:00 am – 2:00 pm 
Saturday: 12:00 pm – 12:00 am  11:00 am – 2:00 pm 
  

As mentioned in the applicant’s justification statement, this business would operate as a private 
club.  Per North Carolina ABC rules, if the establishment’s food sales do no exceed 30% or more 
of the venue’s overall sales, it must be classified as a private club.  This does not mean there is 
any desire to be exclusive, but rather is a requirement to be compliant with ABC rules based on 
anticipated food sales. 
 
Applicant’s Justification: 

Our operations at Farmers & Merchants will be that of a "Private Club" for use by members 
of Farmers & Merchants and their guests. Members will be required to pay a nominal 
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annual fee for said membership and have access to Farmers & Merchants during business 
hours. 

Farmers & Merchants will have a full kitchen with a full menu and we will begin by 
serving appetizers and dinner and shortly thereafter will add lunch based on market 
demand. 

David J. Schearer and Sigurd Westerlund are the owners of Farmer & Merchants and 
serve as the board members for the club. We will be obtaining a Mixed Beverage Permit 
as a Private Club through the NC ABC Commission for the purpose of serving/selling 
alcoholic beverages to our members and their guests. 
 
Project Profile: 
  

PROPERTY LOCATION:  1 N Main Street, A 
WAKE COUNTY PIN:  1783698823 
ZONING DISTRICT: DMX 

 CROSS REFERENCES:  N/A  
PROPERTY OWNER:  1 North Main Street LLC 
     201 Turquoise Creek Dr. 
     Cary, NC 27513-3498     
APPLICANT:    Westerlund and Schearer Hospitality LLC 
     201 Turquoise Creek Drive 
     Cary, NC 27513     
PROPERTY SIZE:   0.04 ac      
CURRENT LAND USE:  Commercial 
PROPOSED LAND USE:  Commercial 

 
 
Existing Zoning Map: 
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Zoning District: 
 
This site is located in the Downtown Mixed Use (DMX) Zoning District.  A bar/tavern is 
permitted with a Special Use Permit in the DMX district, and is subject to the following 
additional standard: 

1. No such facility shall be located within 300 feet of the property line of any lot containing 
a church or school or any residential district (RA, RR, R2, R3, R4, R7). 

 
The subject property meets the 300 ft separation requirement. 
 
Off Street Parking: 
 
The occupancy of the establishment is 49 seats.  Based on these preliminary estimates, this 
would require the use of 13 downtown on-street parking spaces if filled to capacity.   
 
Like most downtown properties in this area, this parcel does not include any off-street parking.  
 
Site Improvements: 
 
The applicant is performing significant renovations to the interior and exterior of the building 
and was a recipient of a Downtown Façade Grant.  No site improvements are proposed beyond 
the building envelope. 
 
 Staff Comments: 
 

• The submitted application has been deemed complete, and staff has not identified any 
violations of the general requirements needed to approve a special use permit. 
 

Attachments: 
 

A. Section 15.15 - When conditional or special uses may be granted.  
B. SUP Application – SU19-05  
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Attachment A 
 

B. General Requirements:  
 
1. Only those uses enumerated as Special Uses in a zoning district shall be authorized 

by the Board of Commissioners. 
 

2. The evaluation and approval of the Special Use Permit shall be governed by quasi-
judicial proceedings, which are based upon the sworn testimony and evidence 
presented at the hearing relevant to the following standards: 
a. That the proposed use does not affect adversely the general plans for the 

physical development of the town as embodied in this Ordinance and in 
any plan or portion thereof adopted by the Board of Commissioners; 
 

b. The proposed use will not be contrary to the purposes stated for these 
regulations; 
 

c. The proposed use will not adversely affect the health and safety of residents 
and workers in the town; 
 

d. The proposed use will not be detrimental to the use of development of 
adjacent properties or other neighborhood uses; 
 

e. The proposed use will not be affected adversely by the existing uses; 
 

f. The proposed use will be placed on a lot of sufficient size to satisfy the 
space requirements of the use; 
 

g. The proposed use will not constitute a nuisance or hazard because of the 
number of persons who will attend or use the facility, vehicular movement, 
noise, or fume generation or type of physical activity; 
 

h. The standards set forth for each particular use for which a permit may be 
granted have been met; 
 

i. The Board may impose or require such additional restrictions and 
conditions as may be necessary to protect the health and safety of works 
and residents in the community, and to protect the value and use of 
property in the general neighborhood; 
 

j. The proposed use shall be subject to the minimum area, setback, and other 
location requirements of the zoning district in which it will be located; and 
 

k. The proposed use shall be subject to the off-street parking and service 
requirements of these regulations. 
 

l. Wherever the Board shall find, in the case of any permit granted pursuant 
to the provisions of this chapter, that any of the terms, conditions, or 
restrictions, on which such permit was granted are not being complied, the 
Board shall rescind and revoke the permit after giving due notice to all 
parties concerned and granting full opportunity for a public hearing.  
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Date:   November 12, 2019                       Item # 5b 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Item Title: 
 
Public Hearing on a Zoning Text Amendment to Sections 15.6 and 15.15 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance (UDO) regarding the Town of Wendell’s Special Use Permit (SUP) 
Procedural Requirements. 
 
Report to the Board of Commissioners: 
 
Tuesday, November 12, 2019 (Public Hearing) 
Monday, September 9, 2019 (Discussion) 
 
Report to the Planning Board: 
 
Monday, October 21, 2019 
 
Specific Action Requested: 

 
Hold a public hearing and consider taking action on the proposed text amendment to Sections 
15.6 and 15.15 of the UDO regarding the Town of Wendell’s Special Use Permit (SUP) 
Procedural Requirements. 

  
Applicant: 
 
Town of Wendell 

 
Petition: 
 
Staff is requesting to amend the UDO Sections 15.6- Site Plans and 15.15- Special Use Permits 
as it relates to the procedural requirements for a Special Use Permit. 

 
Item Summary: 
 
Following a discussion by the Board of Commissioners in September 2019, staff evaluated 
Wendell’s current regulations which require multi-family development proposals to have 
Technical Review Committee (TRC) approval before granting of the Special Use Permit by the 
Board of Commissioners (BOC).   
 
For uses other than multi-family, the UDO does not prescribe the order of the review process 
(i.e. should the SUP approval or the TRC approval occur first).  Staff’s practice has been to 
require TRC review to begin prior to the SUP public hearing for new development proposals, but 
not necessarily require that the TRC review be fully completed prior to the public hearing.   
Based on staff’s preliminary research, local municipalities address the combination of TRC 
reviews and Special Use Permits in various ways.  Staff researched eight local municipalities and 
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compiled a chart (see Attachment C) that highlights how each addresses the review and approval 
process. The results of the peer review were mixed, with no clear prevailing practice.   
 
Four options were derived from reviewing local municipalities; 
 

1) Full TRC review and approval before BOC considers Special Use Permit. (current 
process for multi-family in the Town of Wendell) 

2) Begin TRC review with full plans before Special Use Permit considered by BOC 
3) Reduced Site Plan for Special Use Permit by BOC; if approved, full plans submitted to 

TRC 
4) Full Plans required for Special Use Permit by BOC; if approved full plans submitted to 

TRC  
 
Having been presented the four options on September 9th, the Town Board expressed a 
preference for option #3. Therefore, staff has based the following text amendment on Option 3 
which allows for a reduced site plan for a Special Use Permit.  Option 3 allows an applicant to 
obtain an answer from the Town Board on the site’s zoning approval before expending 
significant funds on detailed site plans.  If the Town Board approves the Special Use Permit, then 
the full Master Plan would still be reviewed by the TRC.   A list of those items which must be 
included in the full Master Plan is provided in Attachment B.  As can be seen, the reduced site 
plan requirements represent approximately half of the full Master Plan requirements. 
 
Proposed Amendments: 
 

1. To amend Section 15.6 (Site Plans) to modify the Town’s SUP procedural requirements. 
(Deleted text is stricken through and new text is underlined) 
 
15.6 - Site Plans 
 

A. Minor Site Plans 
 1. Applicability: 

a. Duplexes* 
b. Multi-family with four or fewer units* 
c. Non-residential Development with structures totaling less than 10,000 

square feet 
 2. Procedure: 
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*Multi-family projects shall require a Special Use Permit (SUP), per the requirements of Chapter 2. 
 
 
 

B. Major Site Plans 
 1. Applicability: 

a. Multi-family buildings with more than four units* 
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b. Non-residential Development 10,000 square feet or greater 
c. Industrial Development 

                        2. Procedure: 

 
 

 
*Multi-family projects shall require a Special Use Permit (SUP), per the requirements of Chapter 2. 
Following the issuance of an SUP, the applicant may proceed directly to the Construction Documents 
phase of the Major Site Plan approval process. 
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2. To amend Section 15.15 (Special Use Permits) to modify the Town’s procedural 
requirements. (Deleted text is stricken through and new text is underlined) 

 
15.15 - Special Use Permits 
 
      H. Procedure: 
 

*The Reduced Site Plan is for Special Use Permit (SUP) approval only.  A full Master Plan is 
required for TRC review after SUP approval, as a Minor or Major Site Plan or Subdivision.  A 
change in use which does not require or involve any site improvements shall not require a site 
plan to be submitted meeting the reduced site plan/master plan criteria as part of the SUP 
application (i.e. a new use in an existing building space, where the change in use does not result 
in the need for additional parking, landscape buffers, infrastructure or utility improvements or 
extensions, changes to ingress/egress, etc.).   
 

I. Reduced Site Plan Requirements: 
 

The Reduced Site Plan for Special Use Permit shall be drawn to the following 
specifications and shall contain or be accompanied by the information listed below. All 
plans shall be submitted at a scale not less than one inch = 50 feet unless otherwise 
authorized by the Administrator. No processing or review of a Reduced Site Plan for 
Special Use Permit will proceed without all of the information required below: 
A. Plat book or deed book references. 
B. Names of adjoining property owners (or subdivision or developments of record) with 

plat book and/or deed book reference. 
C. The boundary, as determined by survey, of the area to be developed with: 

1. All bearings, curve data and distances on outside boundaries and street 
centerlines; 

2. Street centerlines tied to the boundary; 
3. The location within the area, or contiguous to it, of any existing streets, railroad 

lines, perennial streams, wetlands, easements or other significant features of the 
tract. 

4. At least one corner tied to the NC grid with grid coordinates provided where at 
least one of two control monuments needed are within 2,000 feet of the boundary. 
Otherwise, boundary should be tied to the nearest street intersections. 
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5. Locations of intersecting property boundary lines of adjoining properties. 
D. Site calculations including total acreage of tract, acreage in recreational open space 

and other non-residential uses, total number and acreage of parcels, and the total 
number of housing units. 

E. Building elevations required for all Major Site Plans. 
F. The location of: 

1. Proposed buildings 
2. Parking and loading areas 
3. Streets and alleys with total right-of-way dimensions 
4. Sidewalk and Greenway locations 
5. Property lines and minimum building setbacks 
6. Building restriction areas (i.e., flood hazard and riparian buffer areas) 

G. Conceptual Landscape Plan showing general location of proposed landscape material. 
 
Questions to Consider: 
 

1. Should the Traffic Impact Analysis be required with the SUP Reduced Site Plan, or is it 
preferred that this be required with the Master Plan going to TRC (AFTER the SUP 
hearing)? 

a. Based on the Planning Board’s recommendation, the language for adoption does 
not currently include a TIA as a requirement for the reduced site plan. 

 
Planning Board Recommendation: 
 
At their October 21, 2019 meeting, the Planning Board voted unanimously to amend sections 
15.6 and 15.15 of the UDO regarding the Town of Wendell’s Special Use Permit (SUP) 
Procedural Requirements.  
 
The Planning Board also voted unanimously to recommend the following: 

• An applicant not be allowed to submit a Master Plan for TRC review until Special Use 
Permit Approval has been obtained 

• The Reduced Site Plan not include a Traffic Impact Analysis as a requirement. 
 
Voting in Favor: Victoria Curtis, Joe DeLoach, Ryan Zakany, Jimmena Huffman-Hall, Michael 
Firstbrook, Jonathan Olson, Levin Jones and Brett Hennington 
 
Voting against: None 
 
Absent: Allen Swaim   
 
Statement of Plan Consistency and Reasonableness: 
 
The proposed text amendment to Chapter 15 is found to be reasonable in order to promote 
Wendell’s attractiveness to business by simplifying the special use permit process. Furthermore, 
the proposed amendments are found to be consistent with the following principle of the 
Comprehensive Plan:  
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o Principle Number 5: “Promote Wendell’s attractiveness to business and people of 

all walks of life. Emphasize the strengths of the Town’s diverse population.” 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends approval of the text amendment, with clarity from the Town Board regarding 
when a TIA (if applicable) would be required. 
 
Attachments: 
 

A. Ordinance for Adoption 
B. Master Plan Requirements 
C. Municipality Comparison Chart 

      
 



   
 

 

                     Attachment A 
           ORD # 0-23-2019 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTIONS 15.6 AND 15.15 OF THE  
TOWN OF WENDELL UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AS IT RELATES TO 

SPECIAL USE PERMIT (SUP) PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
WHEREAS, Section 15.6 of the UDO contains the Town’s general provisions for site 

plan submission requirements; and   
 

WHEREAS, Section 15.15 of the UDO contains the Town’s general provisions for 
Special Use Permits; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the Town of Wendell Unified Development Ordinance Section 15.11 
establishes uniform procedures for amending the text of the Ordinance;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Board of the Town of Wendell, 
North Carolina:  
 
SECTION 1. That Section 15.6 of the UDO be amended to read as follows: 
 
  15.6 – Site Plans 
 

A. Minor Site Plans 
  1. Applicability: 

a. Duplexes* 
b. Multi-family with four or fewer units* 
c. Non-residential Development with structures totaling less than 

10,000 square feet 
 2. Procedure: 
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*Multi-family projects shall require a Special Use Permit (SUP), per the requirements of Chapter 2. 
 
 

B. Major Site Plans 
 1. Applicability: 

a. Multi-family buildings with more than four units* 
b. Non-residential Development 10,000 square feet or greater 
c. Industrial Development 

2. Procedure: 
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*Multi-family projects shall require a Special Use Permit (SUP), per the requirements of Chapter 2. 
 
 
SECTION 2. That Section 15.15 of the UDO be amended to read as follows:  
 
15.15 – Special Use Permits 
 

H. Procedure: 

*The Reduced Site Plan is for Special Use Permit (SUP) approval only.  A full Master Plan is 
required for TRC review after SUP approval, as a Minor or Major Site Plan or Subdivision.  A 
change in use which does not require or involve any site improvements shall not require a site 
plan to be submitted meeting the reduced site plan/master plan criteria as part of the SUP 
application (i.e. a new use in an existing building space, where the change in use does not result 
in the need for additional parking, landscape buffers, infrastructure or utility improvements or 
extensions, changes to ingress/egress, etc.).   
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I. Reduced Site Plan Requirements: 
 

The Reduced Site Plan for Special Use Permit shall be drawn to the following 
specifications and shall contain or be accompanied by the information listed below. 
All plans shall be submitted at a scale not less than one inch = 50 feet unless 
otherwise authorized by the Administrator. No processing or review of a Reduced 
Site Plan for Special Use Permit will proceed without all of the information required 
below: 

 
A. Plat book or deed book references. 
B. Names of adjoining property owners (or subdivision or developments of record) 

with plat book and/or deed book reference. 
C. The boundary, as determined by survey, of the area to be developed with: 

1. All bearings, curve data and distances on outside boundaries and street 
centerlines; 

2. Street centerlines tied to the boundary; 
3. The location within the area, or contiguous to it, of any existing streets, 

railroad lines, perennial streams, wetlands, easements or other significant 
features of the tract. 

4. At least one corner tied to the NC grid with grid coordinates provided where 
at least one of two control monuments needed are within 2,000 feet of the 
boundary. Otherwise, boundary should be tied to the nearest street 
intersections. 

5. Locations of intersecting property boundary lines of adjoining properties. 
D. Site calculations including total acreage of tract, acreage in recreational open 

space and other non-residential uses, total number and acreage of parcels, and the 
total number of housing units. 

E. Building elevations required for all Major Site Plans. 
F. The location of: 

1. Proposed buildings 
2. Parking and loading areas 
3. Streets and alleys with total right-of-way dimensions 
4. Sidewalk and Greenway locations 
5. Property lines and minimum building setbacks 
6. Building restriction areas (i.e., flood hazard and riparian buffer areas) 

G. Conceptual Landscape Plan showing general location of proposed landscape 
material. 

 
 
SECTION 3.  That all laws and clauses of law in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the 
extent of said conflict. 
 
SECTION 4.  That if this ordinance or application thereof to any person or circumstance is held 
invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions of this ordinance which can be given 
separate effect and to the end the provisions of this ordinance are declared to be severable. 
 
SECTION 5.  That the proposed text amendment to Sections 15.6 and 15.15 of the UDO is found 
to be consistent with Principle # 5 of the Wendell comprehensive plan and is reasonable in order 
to promote Wendell’s attractiveness to business by simplifying the special use permit process.  
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• Principle Number 5: “Promote Wendell’s attractiveness to business and people of 
all walks of life. Emphasize the strengths of the Town’s diverse population.” 

 
SECTION 6.  That this ordinance has been adopted following a duly advertised public hearing of 
the Town Board and following recommendation by the Planning Board. 
 
SECTION 7.  That this ordinance shall be enforced as provided in G.S. 160A-175 or as provided 
for in the Wendell Town Code. 
 
SECTION 8.  That this ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption by the Wendell Board 
of Commissioners. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DULY ADOPTED the 12th day of November 2019. 
   
        
(Town Seal) 
            
                 ____________________________  
                  Virginia R. Gray, Mayor  
 
 
ATTEST:        APPROVED AS TO FORM:   
 
 
 
_________________________              ______________________________ 
Megan Howard, Town Clerk               James P. Cauley III, Town Attorney 
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16.5 - Master Plan/Preliminary Plan Requirements 

 
The Master Plan (or Preliminary Plan for Major Subdivisions) shall be drawn to the following 
specifications and shall contain or be accompanied by the information listed below. All plans shall be 
submitted at a scale not less than one inch = 50 feet (for Site Plans) or one inch = 200 feet (for 
Subdivisions) unless otherwise authorized by the Administrator. No processing or review of a Master 
Plan or Preliminary Plan will proceed without all of the information required for Sketch Plan review in 
addition to the information listed below: 
 

A. Plat book or deed book references. 
 

B. Names of adjoining property owners (or subdivision or developments of record) with plat book 
and/or deed book reference. 

 
C. The boundary, as determined by survey, of the area to be developed with: 

1. All bearings, curve data and distances on outside boundaries and street centerlines; 

2. Street centerlines tied to the boundary; 

3. The location within the area, or contiguous to it, of any existing streets, railroad lines, 
perennial streams, wetlands, easements or other significant features of the tract. 

4. At least one corner tied to the NC grid with grid coordinates provided where at least one of 
two control monuments needed are within 2,000 feet of the boundary. Otherwise, boundary 
should be tied to the nearest street intersections. 

5. Locations of intersecting property boundary lines of adjoining properties. 
 

D. Site calculations including total acreage of tract, acreage in recreational open space and other 
non- residential uses, total number and acreage of parcels, and the total number of housing 
units. 

E. Original contours at intervals of not greater than two feet for the entire area to be 
subdivided/developed and extending into adjoining property for a distance of 100 feet at all 
points where street rights-of-way connect to the adjoining property and ten feet at all other 
points of common project boundaries. At least two contours per map should be labeled. Wake 
County or Town of Wendell digital topography may be used to satisfy this requirement but 
should be field- verified by the applicant's consultant to ensure accuracy. This requirement may 
be waived by the Administrator for developments smaller than one acre or where insufficient 
topographic changes warrant such information. 

F. Building elevations required for all Major Site Plans. 

G. The location of: 

1. Proposed buildings 

2. Parking and loading areas 

3. Streets and alleys with total right-of-way dimensions; right-of-way width dimensions from 
center lines of existing public streets; and existing and proposed street names 

4. Lots 

5. Detailed plans of parks, recreation and open space 

6. Site reservations (e.g., school sites) 
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7. Property lines and building setback lines 

8. Tentative lot dimensions 

9. Building restriction areas (i.e., flood hazard areas, buffer locations, watershed protection 
districts, and/or jurisdictional wetlands) 

10. Location, dimension, and type of all easements (existing and proposed) 

11. Proposed size of utility mains, extensions and services 

 

H. Environmental Survey Requirements in accordance with Section 16.3. 

I. Calculations of proposed impervious cover. 

J. Typical cross-sections of proposed streets and alleys. Cross-sections shall include the following 
information: right-of-way widths, pavement widths, curb and gutter profile, planting strip widths 
and locations, sidewalk widths and locations, underground utilities' widths and locations, and 
building setbacks. 

K. The proposed limits of construction for all proposed development activity. 

L. Illustrative Landscape/Tree Plan showing general location and massing of proposed landscape 
material. 

M. Phase lines (if applicable). 

N. Certification statements. 

O. Floodplain Development Permit and Certification application with supporting documentation as    
required by the Wendell Flood Damage Prevention Ordinance (if applicable; see Chapter 6). 
(Application must be prepared for review, although not necessarily approved at the time of 
submittal of the Master Plan/Preliminary Plan documents.) 

P. Certificate of Appropriateness for historic properties (if applicable). 

Q. Traffic Impact Analysis (if applicable; see Section 16.11, Traffic Impact Analysis). 

*Submittal of estimated payment-in-lieu of dedicated open space must be made at the time of 
master plan/preliminary plat approval (if applicable).  
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  Attachment C 
 

Municipality 

Full TRC 
Review 

Required 
before SUP 

SUP 
Precedes 

TRC Review 

SUP Plan 
Requirements Other Provisions 

Morrisville  X 
Reduced Site Plan 

requirements w/ key 
elements  

Minor modifications to SUP site plan 
may be approved by Planning 

Director 

Apex  X 
Reduced Site Plan 

requirements w/ key 
elements 

Neighborhood Meeting is required 
for SUP 

Rolesville  X 
Reduced Site Plan 

requirements w/ key 
elements 

Substantial changes to SUP will need 
to go through BOC again 

Cary X  Full Development Plan  
Submittal/Review may occur 

concurrently but TRC approval 
required prior to SUP hearing. 

Clayton  X Full Development Plan 

Minor modifications to SUP site plan 
may be approved by Planning 

Director. Neighborhood Meeting is 
required for SUP. 

Wake Forest X  Full Development Plan 

TRC review is required and plans to 
be fully in compliance with 

ordinances before it goes to BOC 
with the SUP. Once approved they 
can submit Construction Drawings 

Knightdale X  Full Development Plan 

Site Plan Submitted with SUP 
Application. TRC reviews plans but 
does not grant final approval until 

SUP is granted. 

Zebulon  X Full Development Plan 
Substantial changes to SUP approved 

plan will need to go through BOC 
again 

 

 

Item 5b



Planning/Zoning/Zoning Text Amendments/2019/ZTA19-09 
 

1 

Date:   November 12, 2019                       Item # 5c 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Item Title: 
 
Public Hearing on a Zoning Text Amendment to Section 12.7 of the UDO regarding Wall 
Signage Requirements. 
 
Report to the Board of Commissioners: 
 
Tuesday, November 12, 2019 (Public Hearing) 
 
Report to the Planning Board: 
 
Monday, October 21, 2019 
 
Specific Action Requested: 

 
Hold a public hearing and consider taking action on the proposed text amendment to Section 
12.7 of the UDO regarding Wall Signage Requirements. 
 
Applicant: 
 
Town of Wendell 

 
Petition: 
 
Staff is requesting to amend the UDO Section 12.7- Permitted Principal Use Signs as it relates to 
wall signage area for buildings over 25,000 sq. ft. 

 
Item Summary: 
 
Currently the Wendell Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) provides 3 primary categories of 
permanent commercial signage: 1) Monument sign, 2) Suspended Single Post Signs, and 3) 
Wall, Canopy, or Projecting Signs.  The types and amount of signage permitted vary based on 
the size and location of the building.  For wall signage, applicants are permitted 1 sq. foot of 
signage per linear ft of store frontage, with a maximum of 100 sq. ft.  Using this standard, a 50 ft 
wide building can receive up to 50 square feet of signage total, comprised of 1 or more signs.  
Corner lots may receive additional signage based on the linear frontage of their corner side, but 
the 100 sq. foot maximum still applies (i.e. The 50’ wide building could receive up to 50’ more 
signage for their corner side). 
 
While these regulations have generally met the Town’s needs, Wendell has not experienced 
much large-scale commercial or industrial development since their implementation.  As 
commercial development begins in Wendell Falls, staff identified the need to address the signage 
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needs for larger commercial buildings.  The most immediate need is for the proposed Wendell 
Falls grocery store, but these regulations would address other future needs throughout town.  
 
Staff researched other municipalities to determine how they address wall signage and the 
consensus was to use a percentage of the façade as the maximum allowable signage area. For 
buildings with multiple frontages, generally a lower percentage was used on the side and rear 
façades. Some municipalities capped the total wall signage per building or per façade.  A 
summary of municipal wall signage regulations is provided below. 
 
 

Municipality Front Façade Percentage Other Façade 
Percentage 

Maximum Sq. Ft. Maximum 
Number 

Apex 10% 10 200 sf per front 
façade, 100 sf per 

sign 

2 per street 
frontage 

Chapel Hill 5% 5% 250 sf per sign 1 per street 
frontage 

Garner  
 

7% (Buildings < 100,000 sf) 

10% (Buildings > 100,00 sf) 

n/a 60 sf/Lot 

100 sf/Lot 

3 

4 

Knightdale 10% 5% 150 sf per sign n/a 

 
 
Based on this comparative analysis, staff created a proposed amendment to permit additional 
signage (based on a percentage of the façade) for buildings over 25,000 square feet in size.  
Buildings below this threshold would continue to use the Town’s current regulations, which are 
simpler to calculate and enforce.  The 25,000 square foot size would generally capture any larger 
department store, grocery store, or manufacturing facility which have greater signage needs, but 
would not include stand-alone restaurants, pharmacies, hardware stores, etc. 
 
 
 
Proposed Amendments: 
 

1. To amend Section 12.7 (Permitted Principal Use Signs) to modify the Town’s wall 
signage requirements. (New text is underlined) 
12.7 – Permitted Principal Use Signs 
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C. Mixed-Use, Primarily Commercial, and Industrial Districts (NC, CMX, CC, 
DMX, CH, M&I) AND Permitted Civic/Institutional Uses in any district. 

 

*On corner lots, the secondary façade may receive an additional one sq. ft. of signage per linear foot of secondary 
building frontage/tenant space (100 sq. ft. maximum for the building/tenant space still applies).  
 
Planning Board Recommendation: 
 
At their October 21, 2019 meeting, the Planning Board voted unanimously to amend section 12.7 
of the UDO regarding Wall Signage Requirements.  
 
Voting in Favor: Victoria Curtis, Joe DeLoach, Ryan Zakany, Jimmena Huffman-Hall, Michael 
Firstbrook, Jonathan Olson and Levin Jones 
 
Voting against: None 
 
Absent: Allen Swaim and Brett Hennington  
 
Statement of Plan Consistency and Reasonableness: 
 
The proposed text amendment to Chapter 12 is consistent with Principle # 5 of the Wendell 
Comprehensive Plan and is reasonable to promote Wendell’s attractiveness to business by 
allowing for wall signage that is appropriate for a larger building with multiple frontages. 
 

 Principle # 5: Promote Wendell’s attractiveness to business and people of 
all walks of life. Emphasize the strengths of the Town’s diverse 
population. 
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Staff Recommendation: 
 
Staff recommends approval of the text amendment. 
 
Attachments: 
 

A. Ordinance for Adoption 
  



  Attachment A 
           ORD # 0-22-2019 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND SECTION 12.7 OF THE  
TOWN OF WENDELL UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE  

AS IT RELATES TO WALL SIGNAGE REQUIREMENTS 

WHEREAS, Section 12.7 of the UDO contains the Town’s general provisions for 
permitted principal use signs; and   

WHEREAS, the Town of Wendell Unified Development Ordinance Section 15.11 
establishes uniform procedures for amending the text of the Ordinance;  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Town Board of the Town of Wendell, 
North Carolina:  

SECTION 1. That Section 12.7 of the UDO be amended to read as follows: 

  12.7 – Permitted Principal Use Signs 

C. Mixed-Use, Primarily Commercial, and Industrial Districts (NC, CMX, CC, 
DMX, CH, M&I) AND Permitted Civic/Institutional Uses in any district. 

*On corner lots, the secondary façade may receive an additional one sq. ft. of signage per linear foot of
secondary building frontage/tenant space (100 sq. ft. maximum for the building/tenant space still applies). 

SECTION 2.  That all laws and clauses of law in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the 
extent of said conflict. 

Item 5c



SECTION 4.  That if this ordinance or application thereof to any person or circumstance is held 
invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions of this ordinance which can be given 
separate effect and to the end the provisions of this ordinance are declared to be severable. 

SECTION 5.  That the proposed text amendment to Sections 12.7 of the UDO is found to be 
consistent with Principle # 5 of the Wendell comprehensive plan and is reasonable in order to 
promote Wendell’s attractiveness to business by allowing for wall signage that is appropriate for 
a larger building with multiple frontages.  

• Principle Number 5: “Promote Wendell’s attractiveness to business and people of
all walks of life. Emphasize the strengths of the Town’s diverse population.”

SECTION 6.  That this ordinance has been adopted following a duly advertised public hearing of 
the Town Board and following recommendation by the Planning Board. 

SECTION 7.  That this ordinance shall be enforced as provided in G.S. 160A-175 or as provided 
for in the Wendell Town Code. 

SECTION 8.  That this ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption by the Wendell Board 
of Commissioners. 

DULY ADOPTED the 12th day of November 2019. 

(Town Seal) 

 ____________________________ 
 Virginia R. Gray, Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:  

_________________________  ______________________________ 
Megan Howard, Town Clerk   James P. Cauley III, Town Attorney 
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Date:  November 12, 2019 Item # 6a 

Item Title: 

Application for Appointment to the Town of Wendell Tree Board for Lewis D Piner 

Specific Action Requested: 

Consider the application of Lewis D. Piner for appointment to the Tree Board 

Item Summary: 

Staff received the application for appointment to the Tree Board for Lewis D. Piner on October 
30th. Since the initial public outreach in Spring 2019, applications to the Tree Board were 
provided to East Wake High School and community groups starting in June 2019. Staff has 
received no other applications to date.  

Lewis Piner is currently an ex-officio member of the Tree Board, with a term ending June 30, 
2020. Mr. Piner would fill an open spot on the Tree Board as an regular member, with a term 
ending June 30,2022.  

The Tree Board has 3 current members with no terms expiring this year. 

The Town Clerk will provide ballots for voting on the appointment. 

Attachments: 

Lewis D. Piner Tree board Application-Attachment A  

Board Name
In-Town or 
ETJ

Term 
Begins Term Ends

Term 
Numb
er

Term 
Lengt
h

Term 
Limit Appt Date

Tree Board 0 0 6/30/2021 0 3 years none
Tree Board 0 0 6/30/2022 0 3 years none
Tree Board Lewis Piner In-town / ex-officio 7/1/2017 6/30/2020 0 3 years none 5/8/2017
Tree Board Warren Boyette In-town 7/1/2017 6/30/2020 0 3 years none
Tree Board Marriott L. Sheldon Out-of-town 10/9/2017 6/30/2020 1st term 3 years none 10/9/2017
Tree Board 0 0 1/0/1900 6/30/2020 0 3 years none 1/0/1900



TOWN OF WENDELL 
NORTH CAROLINA 

APPLICATION FOR 
APPOINTMENT 

This application is for consideration to serve on a Town of Wendell citizen advisory board.  This application is 
to gather information regarding your interest and qualifications.  Candidates may be interviewed prior to 
appointment.  Information about each of the town boards is available on the Town’s website at:  
http://www.townofwendell.com/government/citizen-boards 

Which board/committee/commission are you requesting consideration? (Select one per application.) 

Board of Adjustment Planning Board 

Parks & Recreation Commission Tree Board 

Economic Development Committee Appearance Commission 

Name:   _________________________________________________________________________________  

Physical Address:   _________________________________________________________________________  

Mailing Address:  __________________________________________________________________________ 

Length of time you have resided in the Wendell area: ______________________________________________ 

Do you live in the Wendell town limits?  Yes _____ No _____     ETJ:  Yes _____ No _____ 
Residency within the Town limits or ETJ (extra territorial jurisdiction) is required for membership on most 
Town of Wendell citizen advisory boards. 

Telephone: ____________________________________ Mobile: ____________________________________ 

E-Mail: __________________________________________________________________________________  

Education: _______________________________________________________________________________  

Occupation: ______________________________________________________________________________  

Employer: _______________________________________________________________________________  

Please list current and previous service to the community, civic clubs. 

Boards/Committees/Civic Clubs  From   To 
________________________________________ __________________ _________________ 

________________________________________ __________________ _________________ 

________________________________________ __________________ _________________ 

Have you taken the opportunity to attend board meetings prior to the notice of this vacancy? 

Yes _____  No _____  

If Yes, describe extent:  
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
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TOWN OF WENDELL 
NORTH CAROLINA 

APPLICATION FOR 
APPOINTMENT 

What knowledge, skills and abilities would you bring to the board/commission/committee? 

_________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
List any experience beneficial to your service on the above noted board/commission/committee for which you 

are applying: 

_________________________________________________________________________________________
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Do you anticipate a conflict of interest if asked to serve as a member on the requested board? 

No _____  Yes _____     If Yes, please explain: 

_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

References:   Name Address Phone 

(1) ______________________________________________________________________________________ 

(2) ______________________________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________ __________________________________ 
Applicant  Date  

This application is a public record.   
Please do not submit resumes or attachments. 
Applicant certifies that information in the application is correct. 
Applicant understands that this is an application to be considered for appointment to a Town of 
Wendell board/commission/committee and that final appointment is made by the Wendell Town 
Board of Commissioners. 
Applicant understands that service, if appointed, would be without compensation.   

Your completed application is to be delivered to Town Clerk Megan Howard in person or by mail at Wendell Town 
Hall, 15 East Fourth Street, Wendell, NC 27591 or email at: mhoward@townofwendell.com 

Date Received:  Received by:  

For use by Town of Wendell staff: 
Acknowledge receipt of application (date): 
Verification of residency requirement: 
Subdivision (if applicable): 
Letter to candidate for next steps: 
Action by the Board (date): 
Regular / Alternate / Ex-Officio 
Term (expiration date): 

Page 2 of 2 Wendell – Small Town.  Big Charm. 2018 

mailto:sscoggins@townofwendell.com


Date:  November 12, 2019 Item # 7a 

Item Title: 

Update on board committee(s) by Town Board members.  

Specific Action Requested: 

None  

Attachments: 

None 



Date:  November 12, 2019 Item # 8 

Item Title: 

Commissioners’ Reports. 

Specific Action Requested: 

None  

Attachments: 

None 



Date:  November 12, 2019 Item # 9 

Item Title: 

Mayor’s Report. 

Specific Action Requested: 

None  

Attachments: 

None 



Date:  November 12, 2019 Item # 10 

Item Title: 

Closed Session [NC GS 143-318.11]. 

Specific Action Requested: 

Will be called if necessary for one or more of the following within NC GS 143-318.11(a): 

(1)        To prevent the disclosure of information that is privileged or confidential pursuant to the 
law of this State or of the United States, or not considered a public record within the meaning of 
Chapter 132 of the General Statutes. 

(2)        To prevent the premature disclosure of an honorary degree, scholarship, prize, or similar 
award. 

(3)        To consult with an attorney employed or retained by the public body in order to preserve 
the attorney-client privilege between the attorney and the public body, which privilege is hereby 
acknowledged. General policy matters may not be discussed in a closed session and nothing 
herein shall be construed to permit a public body to close a meeting that otherwise would be 
open merely because an attorney employed or retained by the public body is a participant. The 
public body may consider and give instructions to an attorney concerning the handling or 
settlement of a claim, judicial action, mediation, arbitration, or administrative procedure. If the 
public body has approved or considered a settlement, other than a malpractice settlement by or 
on behalf of a hospital, in closed session, the terms of that settlement shall be reported to the 
public body and entered into its minutes as soon as possible within a reasonable time after the 
settlement is concluded. 

(4)        To discuss matters relating to the location or expansion of industries or other businesses 
in the area served by the public body, including agreement on a tentative list of economic 
development incentives that may be offered by the public body in negotiations, or to discuss 
matters relating to military installation closure or realignment. Any action approving the signing 
of an economic development contract or commitment, or the action authorizing the payment of 
economic development expenditures, shall be taken in an open session. 

(5)        To establish, or to instruct the public body's staff or negotiating agents concerning the 
position to be taken by or on behalf of the public body in negotiating (i) the price and other 
material terms of a contract or proposed contract for the acquisition of real property by purchase, 
option, exchange, or lease; or (ii) the amount of compensation and other material terms of an 
employment contract or proposed employment contract. 

(6)        To consider the qualifications, competence, performance, character, fitness, conditions of 
appointment, or conditions of initial employment of an individual public officer or employee or 
prospective public officer or employee; or to hear or investigate a complaint, charge, or 



grievance by or against an individual public officer or employee. General personnel policy issues 
may not be considered in a closed session. A public body may not consider the qualifications, 
competence, performance, character, fitness, appointment, or removal of a member of the public 
body or another body and may not consider or fill a vacancy among its own membership except 
in an open meeting. Final action making an appointment or discharge or removal by a public 
body having final authority for the appointment or discharge or removal shall be taken in an open 
meeting. 
 
(7)        To plan, conduct, or hear reports concerning investigations of alleged criminal 
misconduct. 
 
(8)        To formulate plans by a local board of education relating to emergency response to 
incidents of school violence or to formulate and adopt the school safety components of school 
improvement plans by a local board of education or a school improvement team. 
 
(9)        To discuss and take action regarding plans to protect public safety as it relates to existing 
or potential terrorist activity and to receive briefings by staff members, legal counsel, or law 
enforcement or emergency service officials concerning actions taken or to be taken to respond to 
such activity. 
 
(10)      To view a recording released pursuant to G.S. 132-1.4A. 
 
Attachments: 
 
None 
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